RADIAL AND NON-RADIAL SOLUTIONS TO $\Delta^3 u + u^{-q} = 0$ IN \mathbf{R}^3

TRINH VIET DUOC AND QUỐC ANH NGÔ

ABSTRACT. Inspired by recent studies on the biharmonic equation $\Delta^2 u + u^{-q} = 0$ in \mathbf{R}^3 , where q is a real number, we consider the higher-order analogous equation

$$\Delta^3 u + u^{-q} = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3 \,.$$

It is known that this equation admits positive classical solutions that are radially symmetric if, and only if, q > 1/2. Besides, under the restriction q > 1/2, it is also known that there is a branch of radially symmetric solutions to the equation having the growth at infinity as that of $|x|^4$. In the first part of the paper, by a careful phase-plane analysis, we provide a complete description of possible growth at infinity for radially symmetric solutions to the equation. Having such a classification of growth, in the last part of the paper, we construct non-radial solutions to the equation via a fixed-point argument. To obtain these results, we borrow some ideas often used in the case of biharmonic equations. However, compared with the case of biharmonic equations, there are some differences leading to new difficulties. A typical example is that it is not clear if solutions to the equation enjoy the super polyharmonic property, which is often used to overcome the lack of maximum principles.

1. INTRODUCTION

In this paper, we are interested in positive C^6 -solutions u to the following geometric interesting equation

$$\Delta^3 u + u^{-q} = 0 \tag{1.1}$$

in \mathbf{R}^3 with q being a real number. This equation can be rewritten in a traditional way as follows $(-\Delta)^3 u = u^{-q}$. Later on we shall see that we must have q > 1/2 but now let us discuss the significance of studying (1.1) and the reason why we work on this equation. Roughly speaking, the last three decades have witnessed the presence of significant advances in the theory of higher-order elliptic equations of the form

$$(-\Delta)^m u = f u^{-q}$$
 in \mathbf{R}^n

starting from the work [WX99] by Wei and Xu in the case of constant functions f. These equations have their root in various branches of pure and applied mathematics. While the second-order case is very classical and often appears in many textbooks, the fourthorder case is of interest because it arises in the theory of elasticity. Higher-order cases such as (1.1) are also of interest because they serve as a tool for many problems in pure mathematics, very often in conformal geometry and geometric analysis. In this direction, equations of the form (1.1) come from the problem of prescribing Q-curvature on \mathbb{S}^3 , which is associated with the conformally covariant GJMS operator of order six with the principle part $(-\Delta)^3$, discovered by Graham, Jenne, Mason, and Sparling in [GJMS92]. This operator is a high-order elliptic operator analogue with the well-known conformal Laplacian which is of second order and with the Paneitz operator which is of fourth order. Let us discuss this sixth order GJMS operator more precise.

Date: 19th Sept, 2022 at 14:23.

²⁰⁰⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 35J60, 53C21.

Key words and phrases. Triharmonic equation; GJMS operator; Phase-space analysis; Exact growth at infinity; Fixed-point theorem.

Suppose that f be a smooth function on the unit sphere $\mathbb{S}^3 \subset \mathbb{R}^4$ equipped with the standard metric $g_{\mathbb{S}^3}$. Let $\tilde{g} = v^{-4/3}g_{\mathbb{S}^3}$ be a conformal metric, then one has the following equation with a critical exponent

$$\left(-\Delta_{g_{\mathbb{S}^3}} - \frac{21}{4}\right)\left(-\Delta_{g_{\mathbb{S}^3}} - \frac{5}{4}\right)\left(-\Delta_{g_{\mathbb{S}^3}} + \frac{3}{4}\right)v = fv^{-3} \quad \text{on } \mathbb{S}^3.$$
(1.2)

The geometric meaning of the above equation is that if v > 0 is a solution to (1.2), then the conformal metric $v^{-4/3}g_{\mathbb{S}^3}$ has Q-curvature f. Via the stereographic projection $\pi : \mathbb{S}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^3$, one should obtain from (1.2) the following equation

$$(-\Delta)^3 u = (f \circ \pi^{-1}) u^{-3}$$
 in \mathbf{R}^3 ;

see [Han07]. Limiting ourselves to the case of constant function f, one further arrive at the following model equation

$$(-\Delta)^3 u = u^{-3}$$
 in \mathbf{R}^3 . (1.3)

It appears that (1.3) is exactly (1.1) with q replaced by -3 after using a simple scaling. Instead of considering (1.2) let us now consider its non-critical cases, namely we consider

$$\left(-\Delta_{g_{\mathbb{S}^3}} - \frac{21}{4}\right)\left(-\Delta_{g_{\mathbb{S}^3}} - \frac{5}{4}\right)\left(-\Delta_{g_{\mathbb{S}^3}} + \frac{3}{4}\right)v = fv^{-q} \quad \text{on } \, \mathbb{S}^3$$

for arbitrary $q \in \mathbf{R}$. Then still by the stereographic projection $\pi : \mathbb{S}^3 \to \mathbf{R}^3$, one should arrive at

$$(-\Delta)^3 u = \left(\frac{1}{1+|x|^2}\right)^{\frac{9-3q}{2}} (f \circ \pi^{-1}) u^{-q}$$
 in \mathbf{R}^3 .

Hence, upon an appropriate choice for f to cancel out the term involving $1+|x|^2$ one should arrive at $(-\Delta)^3 u = u^{-q}$ which is exactly our equation (1.1). It should be mentioned that instead of using the sixth order GJMS operator on \mathbb{S}^3 one can use the fourth order Paneitz operator on \mathbb{S}^3 to obtain the following biharmonic equations $\Delta^2 u = \pm u^{-q}$ in \mathbb{R}^3 .

Perhaps, we are motivated by the two works: first by Feng and Xu [FX13] and the other by Luo, Wei, and Zou [LWZ16] involving the triharmonic operator Δ^3 . While the work by Luo, Wei, and Zou focuses on solutions to the triharmonic Lane–Emden equation

$$(-\Delta)^3 u = |u|^{p-1} u$$

in \mathbb{R}^n with p > 1, the work of Feng and Xu focuses on non-negative solutions to

$$(-\Delta)^3 u = -u^{-q} \tag{1.4}$$

in \mathbf{R}^5 with q > 0. Clearly, equation (1.4) is different from equation (1.1) by a minus sign. In the work [FX13] this plays an important role because associated with (1.4) in \mathbf{R}^5 is the following integral equation

$$u(x) = \frac{1}{64\pi^2} \int_{\mathbf{R}^5} |x - y| u(y)^{-q} dy.$$
(1.5)

From this integral equation one can say more about non-negative, Lebesgue integrable solutions to (1.5); see [Li04, Xu05]. In fact, they are radially symmetric and therefore can be assumed $u(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{1/2}$. If we have (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^5 in hand, then it does not make sense to consider similar integral equations. Very recently, the authors in [DF22] further investigate solutions to (1.4) in \mathbb{R}^n for any $n \ge 2$ and q > 0 and obtain various properties including the asymptotic behavior for radial solutions at infinity. Similar results were obtained earlier in [NNP18] under the condition $n \ge 1$ and $q \ge -1$. It is worth noting that there is no positive, C^6 solution to (1.4) if q < -1; see [NNPY20]. Therefore, the picture of radial solutions to (1.4) in \mathbb{R}^n with $q \in \mathbb{R}$ is quite understood. For the case of non-radial solutions, as shown in [NNPY20], (1.4) in \mathbb{R}^n with $n \ge 1$ admits solutions which are radial if, and only if, $q \ge -1$. Using these radial solutions one can quickly conclude the existence of non-radial solutions to (1.4) in \mathbb{R}^n with $n \ge 2$ and $q \ge -1$. Therefore, we have quite clear picture of existence and non-existence results for solutions

to (1.4). This motivates us to work on (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^3 since the existence of non-radial solutions is not obvious, see the paragraph after Theorem 1.5.

Let us now discuss (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^3 . Unlike (1.4) in \mathbb{R}^5 , the corresponding integral equation of (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^3 is

$$u(x) = \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} |x - y|^3 u(y)^{-q} dy.$$
(1.6)

From this, by the same beautiful classification of positive solutions to integral equations of the form (1.6), we deduce that q = 3 must hold and non-negative, Lebesgue integrable solutions to (1.6) are of the following form $u(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{3/2}$, up to translations, dilations, and scalings. Although non-negative integrable solutions to the integral equations (1.6) and (1.5) are easily classified, we cannot expect that the structure of the solution set of the differential equations (1.1) and (1.4) is simple. This can be easily seen by comparing (1.4) and (1.5).

In the present paper, motivated by many interesting results for the case of biharmonic equations obtained in [CX09, Gue12], we initiate our study on the structure of solution set of (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^n . In view of the geometric meaning described above, the two cases n = 3 and n = 5 are of interest although one can consider (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^n for arbitrary $n \ge 2$. By a general result of [NNPY20] we conclude that the equation (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^n for any $n \ge 2$ admits one positive C^6 -solution if, and only if, q > 1/2. In addition, it is proved that (1.1) with q > 1/2 admits at least one positive radial solution; see [NNPY20, Proposition A]. Moreover, such a radial solution has a growth as that of $|x|^4$ at infinity; see [KNS88]. Based on this point, we are interested in the structure of radial and non-radial solutions to (1.1). To achieve this goal, we split our analysis into two parts. In the first part, we consider radial solutions to (1.1). Although their existence is clear, it is not clear how they behave near infinity. In the second part, we make use of the behavior of radial solutions to construct non-radial solutions.

Let us discuss the two parts in details. In the first part of the paper, our aim is to *obtain* a complete description of the asymptotic behavior at infinity of radial solutions to (1.1) for all q > 1/2. Toward answering the above question completely, we start with a complete classification of exact growth of radial solutions to (1.1) for all q > 1/2.

Theorem 1.1. Assume that u is a radial solution to (1.1). Then we have the following claims:

- (a) u grows at least cubically and at most quartically.
- (b) u grows <u>either</u> cubically <u>or</u> quartically if q > 1.
- (c) u grows <u>either</u> like $r^3 \sqrt{\log r}$ <u>or</u> quartically if q = 1.
- (d) u grows either like $r^{6/(q+1)}$ or quartically if 1/2 < q < 1.

We prove Theorem 1.1 in section 3 below. This simply follows from Proposition 3.1 whose proof is done by a careful examination of the limit of $\Delta^2 u$ at infinity. It is worth noting that although the method used is more or less standard to experts, a few new ideas is required.

To be able to discuss our next result, one should notice that although Theorem 1.1 provides us a complete picture of growth at infinity, it does not tell us the precise asymptotic behavior at infinity. For example, if we know that the radial solution u grows quartically at infinity, then Theorem 1.1 does not give us the value of $|x|^{-4}u(x)$ at infinity. In the next result, we are able to prove the existence of radial solutions with prescribed asymptotic behavior at infinity for any q > 1/2. This, in particular, provides an affirmative answer for the question of existence raised earlier. Let us state our next result.

Theorem 1.2. We have the following claims:

(a) For q > 1 and given any $\kappa > 0$, there exists a radially symmetric solution u to (1.1) such that

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^3} = \kappa.$$

(b) For q = 1, there exists a radially symmetric solution u to (1.1) such that

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^3 (\log |x|)^{1/2}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{12}}$$

(c) For 1/2 < q < 1, there exists a radially symmetric solution u to (1.1) such that u grows exactly between cubic and quartic in the sense that

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^{6/(q+1)}} = (-K_0)^{-\frac{1}{q+1}}$$

where K_0 is a negative constant given by

$$K_0 = \frac{72(2q-1)(q-1)(q-2)(q-5)(q+7)}{(q+1)^6}$$

(d) For q > 1/2 and given any $\kappa > 0$, there exists infinitely many radial solution u to (1.1) such that

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^4} = \kappa.$$

We prove Theorem 1.2 in section 5 (for case (a)), in section 6 (for cases (b) and (c)), and in section 7 (for case (d)). The idea of proof is to make use of the ODE version of (1.1) obtained via the shooting method; see the initial value (2.10). Such an approach is often used when working on biharmonic equations. For interested readers, we refer to [Gue12, ND17a] and the references there in.

Clearly, Theorem 1.2(d) indicates that (1.1) in the full range q > 1/2 always admits radial solutions with quartic growth at infinity. However, parts (a)–(c) imply that (1.1) admits another branch of radial solutions whose growth at infinity is strictly less than quartic.

Once we have radial solutions with the prescribing asymptotic behavior at infinity, see Theorem 1.2, we can compute lower order terms of the expansion at infinity. For simplicity, let us only treat radial solutions having either cubic or quartic growth at infinity. Let us consider radial solutions with cubic growth at infinity. Our next result concerns lower order terms in the expansion of these solutions.

Theorem 1.3. Let $\kappa > 0$ be arbitrary and suppose that u is a radially symmetric solution with exactly cubic growth $\kappa > 0$ at infinity, namely,

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^3} = \kappa$$

Then we have the following further asymptotic behavior.

(a) For
$$q > 4/3$$
,

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x) - \kappa |x|^3}{|x|^2} = \frac{\Delta u(0)}{6} - \frac{1}{12} \int_0^\infty |x|^3 u^{-q}(x) dx.$$
(b) For $q = 4/3$,

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x) - \kappa |x|^3}{|x|^2 \log |x|} = -\frac{1}{12\kappa^{4/3}}.$$
(c) For $1 < q < 4/3$,

$$\lim_{|x| \gg +\infty} \frac{u(x) - \kappa |x|^3}{|x|^{6-3q}} = \chi$$

$$\chi = \frac{1}{12\kappa^q} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2(3-3q)} - \frac{1}{10(2-3q)} - \frac{1}{4-3q} \\ -\frac{1}{2(6-3q)} + \frac{1}{5-3q} + \frac{1}{10(7-3q)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.7)

We prove Theorem 1.3 in section 5. For radial solutions with quartic growth at infinity, our result concerning lower order terms of these solutions is as follows.

Theorem 1.4. Let $\kappa > 0$ be arbitrary and suppose that u is a radially symmetric solution with exactly quartic growth $\kappa > 0$ at infinity, namely

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^4} = \kappa.$$

Then we have the following further asymptotic behavior.

(a) For q > 3/4,

with

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x) - \kappa |x|^4}{|x|^3} = \frac{1}{24} \int_0^\infty |x|^2 u^{-q}(x) dx.$$

(b) For
$$q = 3/4$$

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x) - \kappa |x|^4}{|x|^3 \log |x|} = \frac{1}{24\kappa^{3/4}}.$$

(c) For
$$1/2 < q < 3/4$$

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x) - \kappa |x|^4}{|x|^{6-4q}} = \chi$$

with

$$\chi = \frac{1}{12\kappa^q} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2(3-4q)} - \frac{1}{10(2-4q)} - \frac{1}{4-4q} \\ -\frac{1}{2(6-4q)} + \frac{1}{5-4q} + \frac{1}{10(7-4q)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.8)

We prove Theorem 1.4 in section 7. Let us sketch how to prove Theorem 1.3 and Theorem 1.4. In fact, the proof of these two theorems simply follows from integral representations (5.4) and (7.1).

Motivated by a classification result due to [CX09] for biharmonic equations, it would be interesting to know the set of entire solutions to (1.1) when q = 3. In this scenario, by a direct calculation, it is easy to verify that the function $u(x) = 315^{-1/4}(1 + |x|^2)^{3/2}$ solves (1.3). We expect that up to dilations and translations, the only entire solutions to (1.3), which has an exact asymptotic behavior at infinity, is that above; see [GW07] for a similar case of lower order. Due to the limit of length, we leave this issue here and shall address it in a forthcoming paper.

Finally, let us discuss our last result, which is also the second part of the paper. So far we have discussed the existence of radial solutions to (1.1) as well as the their growth at infinity. From this one can ask whether or not a non-radial solution actually exists. In the context of biharmonic equations of the form $\Delta^2 u + u^{-q} = 0$ in \mathbb{R}^3 , it is proved in [HW19] that such a non-radial solution indeed exists. Motivated by this interesting result, we establish a similar result in the context of triharmonic equation of the form (1.1). Our result, which is also the last, reads as follows.

Theorem 1.5. Let q > 1/2, there exists a non-radial, positive, C^6 solution to (1.1).

There is a simple trick to prove the existence of non-radial solutions. In the case of (1.1), it is proved in [NNPY20] that (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^n with $n \ge 3$ and q > 1/2 always admits solutions. Therefore, any radial solution to (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^n immediately becomes a non-radial solution to (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . This proves the existence of non-radial solutions to (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^n with $n \ge 4$. However, it is also worth noting that (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^2 with arbitrary $q \in \mathbb{R}$ does not admit any C^6 -solution; see [NNPY20], which makes the existence of non-radial solutions to (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^3 is of interest and non-trivial. To prove Theorem 1.5, we adopt the method used in [HW19], which is based on a fixed-point argument. However, to be able to handle the higher-order case, a few new idea is introduced.

From the above discussion, one can also consider the equation in (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^5 . However, due to the limit of length, we leave this for future research. As the last comment, we should mention that an earlier version of this work is already available, see [ND17b]. The existence of non-radial solutions to (1.1) in Theorem 1.5 is the major difference between this version and the previous one.

Before closing this section, we briefly mention the organization of the present paper.

CONTENTS

	1. Introduction	1
	2. Preliminaries	7
	2.1. Spherical average and a comparison principle for radial functions	7
	2.2. A super poly-harmonic property and growth of radial solutions	8
	2.3. An initial value problem	10
:	3. Classification of growth at infinity for radial solutions to (1.1): proof of Theorem 1.1	14
	3.1. Solutions with quartic growth	15
	3.2. Solutions with non-quartic growth	15
	4. An autonomous 6-dimensional system	22
	5. Existence of radial solutions of cubic growth at infinity: proof of Theorems 1.2(a) and 1.3	24
	5.1. Asymptotic behavior of the transformed system (4.1)	24
	5.2. Proof of Theorem 1.2(a)	26
	5.3. Proof of Theorem 1.3	26
	6. Existence of radial solutions of growth between cubic and quartic at infinity: Proof of Theorem 1.2(b,c)	26
	 Existence of radial solutions of quartic growth at infinity: proof of Theorem 1.2(d) and 1.4 	27
	7.1. Proof of Theorem 1.2(d)	28
	7.2. Proof of Theorem 1.4	28
;	8. Existence of non-radial solutions to (1.1) : proof of Theorem 1.5	29
	Acknowledgments	34

References

2. PRELIMINARIES

In this section, we collect some useful results. First we discuss spherical averages of functions in subsection 2.1. Then, we study growth of radial solutions to (1.1) in subsection 2.2. Finally, we spend a large portion of this section to study the initial value problem (2.10) obtained via the shooting method. These play an important role in our analysis.

2.1. Spherical average and a comparison principle for radial functions. To understand the structure of solutions to (1.1), we often rewrite (1.1) as the following system

$$\begin{cases} \Delta u = v & \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3, \\ \Delta v = w & \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3, \\ \Delta w = -u^{-q} & \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3. \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

For each function f, we denote by $\overline{f}_{x_0}(r)$ the spherical average of f centered at some point $x_0 \in \mathbf{R}^3$ with radius r, that is

$$\overline{f}_{x_0}(r) = \oint_{\partial B(x_0,r)} f d\sigma.$$

For simplicity, if either x_0 is the origin or no confusion occurs, we simply write $\overline{f}_{x_0}(r)$ as $\overline{f}(r)$. The spherical average has the following nice property $\overline{\Delta f} = \Delta \overline{f}$ which is easy to verify. By the Jensen inequality, there holds

$$\overline{f}_{x_0}^{-q}(r) \le \overline{f_{x_0}^{-q}}(r)$$

for all r. Keep in mind that the following rule

$$\Delta^k f(r) = r^{-2k} (r^{2k} f^{(2k-1)})', \qquad (2.2)$$

which holds only in \mathbb{R}^3 , will be used frequently throughout the paper. Throughout this paper, we frequently apply the following well-known comparison principle for solutions of poly-harmonic equations; see [FF16, Proposition A.2].

Lemma 2.1. Let $p \in \mathbb{N}$ with $p \ge 1$ and assume that $f : \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}$ is locally Lipschitz continuous and monotonically increasing. Let also $\underline{u}, \overline{u} \in C^{2p}([0, R])$ be such that

$$\Delta^{p}\overline{u}(r) - f(\overline{u}(r)) \ge \Delta^{p}\underline{u}(r) - f(\underline{u}(r))$$

for all $r \in [0, R)$ and that

$$\begin{cases} \overline{u}(0) \ge \underline{u}(0), \quad \overline{u}'(0) \ge \underline{u}'(0), \\ \Delta^k \overline{u}(0) \ge \Delta^k \underline{u}(0), \quad (\Delta^k \overline{u})'(0) \ge (\Delta^k \underline{u})'(0) \quad \text{for all } k = 1, 2, ..., p-1 \end{cases}$$

Then for any $r \in [0, R)$ and for all k = 1, 2, ..., p - 1, we have

$$\begin{cases} \overline{u}(r) \ge \underline{u}(r), \quad \overline{u}'(r) \ge \underline{u}'(r), \\ \Delta^k \overline{u}(r) \ge \Delta^k \underline{u}(r), \quad (\Delta^k \overline{u})'(r) \ge (\Delta^k \underline{u})'(r). \end{cases}$$

Moreover, the initial point 0 can be replaced by any initial point $\rho > 0$ if all the 2p initial data are weakly ordered and a strict inequality in one of these initial data at ρ or in the differential inequality in (ρ, R) implies a strict ordering of \overline{u} , \overline{u}' , $\Delta^k \overline{u}$, $(\Delta^k \overline{u})'$ and \underline{u} , \underline{u}' , $\Delta^k \underline{u}$, $(\Delta^k \underline{u})'$ on (ρ, R) for any $k \in \{1, 2, ..., p - 1\}$.

2.2. A super poly-harmonic property and growth of radial solutions. Now let u > 0 solve (1.1). Then we take the spherical average of (2.1) centered at some point $x_0 \in \mathbf{R}^3$ to be specified later to get

$$\Delta \overline{u} = \overline{v}, \quad \Delta \overline{v} = \overline{w}, \quad \text{and} \quad \Delta \overline{w} \le -\overline{u}^{-q} \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3.$$
 (2.3)

(As mentioned earlier, we simply write \overline{u} instead of \overline{u}_{x_0} .) Since the underlying equation is higher order, it is common to determine the sign of v and w. In the following lemma, we show that w has a sign, which is important in the rest of analysis.

Lemma 2.2. If u > 0 is a C^6 positive solution in \mathbb{R}^3 , then we necessarily have w > 0.

This type of result is well-known for solutions to the biLaplace equation $\Delta^2 u = -u^{-q}$ in \mathbf{R}^n with $n \ge 3$; see [CX09, Lemma 2.2] for the case n = 3 and [LY16, Lemma 4.1] for the case of arbitrary n. In the case of the triLaplace equation $\Delta^3 u = -u^{-q}$ in \mathbf{R}^3 , we simply mimic the proof provided in [CX09, LY16]. Therefore, we omit it here and leave the detail for interested readers.

In the previous result, we have shown that w has a sign, which is good to control the sign of \overline{w} and higher order derivatives of \overline{u} . To overcome the *lacking of the maximum principle* since the underlying equation is of higher order, it is commonly to make use of the sign of w and v; see [WX99]. Unfortunately, it seems to be difficult to capture the sign of v. Without having any sign control of v but w, we refer to the *partially super polyharmonic property* for solutions to (1.1); see [NY22] for further information.

Fortunately, inspire by [CX09, Lemma 2.3], in the following step, we can control the sign of derivatives of \overline{w} and \overline{v} . We note that the result below is independent of the center x_0 that we are using to compute the average.

Lemma 2.3. We have the following claims:

$$\overline{w}'(r) < 0, \tag{2.4}$$

and

$$\overline{v}'(r) > 0, \quad \overline{v}''(r) > 0, \quad \overline{v}^{(3)}(r) < 0$$
(2.5)

for all r > 0.

Proof. Recall that w > 0. Using $\Delta \overline{w} \leq -\overline{u}^{-q}$ in (2.3) we obtain

$$r^2\overline{w}'(r) \leq -\int_0^r s^2\overline{u}^{-q}(s)ds;$$

hence $\overline{w}'(r) < 0$ for any r > 0. This proves (2.4). Now we use $\Delta \overline{v} = \overline{w}$ in (2.3) to get

$$r^2\overline{v}'(r) = \int_0^r s^2\overline{w}(s)ds > 0$$

which implies $\overline{v}'(r) > 0$ for r > 0. To estimate higher order derivatives of \overline{v} , we note from (2.2) and $\Delta^2 \overline{v} = -\overline{u}^{-q}$ that

$$r^4\overline{v}^{(3)}(r) \le -\int_0^r s^4\overline{u}^{-q}(s)ds.$$

Therefore, $\overline{v}^{(3)}(r) < 0$ for r > 0. Consequently, \overline{v}'' is monotone decreasing. Suppose $\overline{v}''(r) = 0$ at some $r = r_1 > 0$. Fix some $r_2 > r_1$. Then there exists some $\delta > 0$ such that $\overline{v}''(r) \le -\delta$ for all $r \ge r_2$. Integrating both sides of the preceding inequality gives

$$\overline{v}'(r) \leqslant \overline{v}'(r_2) - \delta(r - r_2)$$

for all $r \ge r_2$. Sending $r \nearrow +\infty$, we deduce that $\overline{v}' < 0$ for some large r, which contradicts to the fact that $\overline{v}'(r) > 0$ for r > 0. Thus, (2.5) is proved.

Up to this position, we are left with the sign of \overline{v} as well as the sign of derivatives of \overline{u} . In the following result, we show how to control the sign of higher order derivatives of \overline{u} .

Lemma 2.4. We have the following claims:

$$\overline{u}^{(3)}(r) > 0, \quad \overline{u}^{(4)}(r) > 0, \quad \overline{u}^{(5)}(r) < 0$$
(2.6)

for all r > 0.

 Proof. First, by using $\Delta^2 \overline{u} = r^{-4} (r^4 \overline{u}^{(3)})' > 0$, see (2.2), we obtain $\overline{u}^{(3)}(r) > 0$. Similarly, still by (2.2), namely $\Delta^3 \overline{u} = r^{-6} (r^6 \overline{u}^{(5)})' < 0$, we obtain $\overline{u}^{(5)}(r) < 0$. Consequently, $\overline{u}^{(4)}(r)$ is strictly decreasing. Suppose that $\overline{u}^{(4)}(r) = 0$ at some $r = r_3 > 0$. Fix some $r_4 > r_3$. Then there exists some $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\overline{u}^{(4)}(r) \leqslant -\delta$$

for all $r \ge r_4$. Integrating both sides of the preceding inequality gives

$$\overline{u}^{(3)}(r) \leqslant \overline{u}^{(3)}(r_4) - \delta(r - r_4)$$

for all $r \ge r_4$. From this we deduce that $\overline{u}^{(3)}(r) < 0$ for large r, which is a contradiction; thus showing $\overline{u}^{(4)}(r) > 0$. This finishes the proof of (2.6).

An immediate consequently of Lemma 2.4 is the following.

Proposition 2.5. *Growth of any radial solution to* (1.1) *is at least cubic and at most quartic at infinity.*

Proof. Suppose that u is a radial solution to (1.1) about some point $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^3$. As always, by \overline{u} , we mean the spherical average of u centered at the x_0 . To bound the growth of u at infinity, it suffices to bound the growth of \overline{u} at infinity. Since $\overline{u}^{(4)}(r) > 0$, we obtain $\overline{u}^{(3)}(r) \ge \overline{u}^{(3)}(1) > 0$ for any $r \ge 1$. From this we get

$$\overline{u}''(r) \ge \overline{u}^{(3)}(1)(r-1) + \overline{u}''(1) \tag{2.7}$$

for all $r \ge 1$. From this, simply integrating twice, we deduce that \overline{u} grows at least cubic at infinity. To obtain the greatest growth at infinity for \overline{u} , we observe from (2.4) that

$$\Delta \overline{v}(r) = \overline{w}(r) \le \overline{w}(0)$$

which by integration implies

$$\overline{u}(r) \le \overline{u}(0) + \frac{\overline{v}(0)}{12}r^2 + \frac{\overline{w}(0)}{120}r^4$$
(2.8)

and this is enough to conclude the assertion.

Up to this point, we have not mention the sign of \overline{v} as well as \overline{u}' and \overline{u}'' . The next lemma addresses this which will be used in the proof of Lemma 3.9.

Lemma 2.6. There hold

 $\overline{u}'(r) > 0, \quad \overline{u}''(r) > 0, \quad and \quad \overline{v}(r) > 0$

provided r > 0 is large enough.

Proof. First in view of (2.7) we quickly conclude that $\overline{u}''(r) > 0$ if r > 0 is large enough. If we integrate both sides of (2.7) over [1, r], then we get

$$\overline{u}'(r) \ge (\overline{u}^{(3)}(1)/2)(r-1)^2 + \overline{u}''(1)r + \overline{u}'(1)$$

for all $r \ge 1$. In particular, $\overline{u}'(r) > 0$ if r > 0 is large enough. For the function \overline{v} , making use of (2.5) yields $\overline{v}'(r) \ge \overline{v}'(1) > 0$ for all $r \ge 1$. From this we deduce that

$$\overline{v}(r) \ge \overline{v}'(1)(r-1) + \overline{v}(1) \tag{2.9}$$

 \Box

for all $r \ge 1$. In particular, $\overline{v}(r) > 0$ provided r is large enough. The proof is now completes.

We conclude this section by the following remarks which give us some information on the sign of \overline{v} for any $r \ge 0$.

Remark 2.7. Although it is not clear whether or not $\overline{v}(r) > 0$ for any $r \ge 0$. However, we can easily conclude that there is a point $x_0 \in \mathbf{R}^3$ such that $\overline{v}_{x_0}(r) > 0$ for all $r \ge 0$. Indeed, by way of contradiction, we know that with respect to origin $O \in \mathbf{R}^3$, there holds $\overline{v}_O(r) < 0$ for all $r \ge 0$. However, this contradicts (2.9) if we choose r large enough; hence proving the existence of some point x_0 .

Remark 2.8. In view of Remark 2.7 above, we easily deduce that $\overline{u}'_{x_0}(r) > 0$ and that $\overline{u}''_{x_0}(r) > 0$ for any $r \ge 0$.

2.3. An initial value problem. Since we are only interested in radial solutions to (1.1), it is necessary to study the radial version of (1.1). In view of the shooting method, we shall keep u(0) fixed. Therefore, suppose $\beta > 0$, we consider the following initial value problem:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^{3}U = -U^{-q}, & U > 0, & r \in (0, R_{\max}(\beta)), \\ U(0) = 1, & \Delta U(0) = \beta, & \Delta^{2}U(0) = \beta, \\ U'(0) = 0, & (\Delta U)'(0) = 0, & (\Delta^{2}U)'(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

where $[0, R_{\max}(\beta))$ is the maximal interval of existence of solutions. (Such an existence of solutions for (2.10) follows from standard ODE theory.) The main result of this subsection is Proposition 2.11. To obtain such a result, we follow closely the arguments used in [KR03] for radially symmetric solutions for the equation $\Delta^2 u + u^{-q} = 0$ in \mathbb{R}^3 ; see also [GW08] and [Gue12]. However, our analysis is rather involved due to the fact that we are dealing with higher order equations.

By the l'Hôpital rule, it is not hard to see that $(\Delta u)(0) = 3u''(0), (\Delta u)'(0) = 2u^{(3)}(0), (\Delta^2 u)(0) = 5u^{(4)}(0), \text{ and } (\Delta^2 u)'(0) = 3u^{(5)}(0).$ Therefore, the initial value problem (2.10) can be rewritten as follows

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^{3}U = -U^{-q}, & U > 0, & r \in (0, R_{\max}(\beta)), \\ U(0) = 1, & U''(0) = \frac{\beta}{3}, & U^{(4)}(0) = \frac{\beta}{5} \\ U'(0) = 0, & U^{(3)}(0) = 0, & U^{(5)}(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

We note that although a local solution of (2.10) always exists for any given $\beta > 0$, such a solution may not entire in the sense that its maximum interval of existence could be finite. The statement Proposition 2.11(b) below indicates that whenever q > 1/2 we successfully obtain an entire solution of (2.10) if the parameter β is chosen appropriately. Consequently, we do have an existence result for entire solutions to (1.1) in \mathbb{R}^3 .

In the sequel, we frequently apply Lemma 2.1 in the following way: Suppose two positive C^6 -functions $\underline{u}(r)$ and $\overline{u}(r)$ are given with

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^{3} \underline{u} + \underline{u}^{-q} \leq 0, \\ \underline{u}(0) \leq 1, & \underline{u}'(0) = 0, & \underline{u}''(0) \leq \delta, \\ \underline{u}^{(3)}(0) = 0, & \underline{u}^{(4)}(0) \leq \delta, & \underline{u}^{(5)}(0) = 0 \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \Delta^{3}\overline{u} + \overline{u}^{-q} \ge 0, \\ \overline{u}(0) \ge 1, \quad \overline{u}'(0) = 0, \quad \overline{u}''(0) \ge \delta, \\ \overline{u}^{(3)}(0) = 0, \quad \overline{u}^{(4)}(0) \ge \delta, \quad \overline{u}^{(5)}(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, to fulfill the differential inequality in $(0, (1/2 + \sqrt{1 + 4\varepsilon^{-\tau}}/2)^{1/2})$, we require

γ

$$\left((6\varepsilon^{-\tau}+2)\sqrt{1+3\varepsilon^{-\tau}}+9\varepsilon^{-\tau}+2\right)\varepsilon+1 \le (720\varepsilon)^{-1/q}.$$
(2.12)

To find some suitable $\varepsilon > 0$ satisfying (2.12), we rewrite (2.12) as the following

$$6\varepsilon^{1-3\tau/2}\sqrt{\varepsilon^{\tau}+3} + 2\sqrt{\varepsilon^2+3\varepsilon^{2-\tau}} + 9\varepsilon^{1-\tau} + 2\varepsilon + 1 \le (720\varepsilon)^{-1/q}.$$
 (2.13)

Clearly, all three terms $2\sqrt{\varepsilon^2 + 3\varepsilon^{2-\tau}}$, 2ε , and $\varepsilon^{1-\tau}$ converge to 0 as $\varepsilon \to 0$. From our choice for τ , it is clear that $0 > 1 - 3\tau/2 > -1/q$. From this we know that $\varepsilon^{1-3\tau/2}\sqrt{\varepsilon^{\tau}+3}$ grows slower than $\varepsilon^{-1/q}$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Hence, by choosing $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, the key estimate (2.13) is satisfied, which proves that

$$\Delta^3 U(r) \ge -U(r)^{-q}$$

for all $0 < r < (1/2 + \sqrt{1 + 4\varepsilon^{-\tau}}/2)^{1/2}$. For $r \ge (1/2 + \sqrt{1 + 4\varepsilon^{-\tau}}/2)^{1/2}$, recall that $U(r) \le 1$ which implies $-U(r)^{-q} \le -1$. Hence by selecting ε even smaller, if necessary, we also obtain

$$\Delta^3 U(r) \ge -U(r)^{-q}$$

Then \underline{u} and \overline{u} are called sub- and super-solutions relative to the initial value problem

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta^3 u + u^{-q} &= 0, \\ u(0) &= 1, \quad u'(0) = 0, \quad u''(0) = \delta, \\ u^{(3)}(0) &= 0, \quad u^{(4)}(0) = \delta, \quad u^{(5)}(0) = 0 \end{aligned}$$

Lemma 2.1 applied to $\overline{u}, u, \underline{u}$ yields the conclusion that $\underline{u} \leq u \leq \overline{u}, \underline{u'} \leq u' \leq \overline{u'}$ on their common interval of existence. Moreover, strict inequality holds as soon as one strict inequality holds in the initial conditions for the function or its derivatives.

First, analogue to [KR03, Lemma 3.3], we prove that solutions to (2.11) cannot be entire if β is small.

Lemma 2.9. There exists some $\underline{\beta} > 0$ such that for all $\beta \leq \underline{\beta}$, any solution u to (2.11) with

$$u(0) = 1, \quad \Delta u(0) = \beta, \quad \Delta^2 u(0) = \beta$$

has compact support.

Proof. Our aim is to construct a super-solution \overline{U} to (2.11), which has compact support. Indeed, thanks to q > 1/2 we easily verify that (2/3)(1 + 1/q) < 2. Therefore, we can select a $\tau \in (2/3, 1)$ such that $\tau < (2/3)(1 + 1/q)$ and fix it. Now consider the following function

$$U(r) = \varepsilon r^2 (\varepsilon^{-\tau} - r^4 + r^2) + 1$$

for some $\varepsilon > 0$ to be specified later. Clearly U is positive on $(0, 1/2 + \sqrt{1 + 4\varepsilon^{-\tau}}/2)^{1/2})$ and $U(r) \leq 1$ for any $r \geq (1/2 + \sqrt{1 + 4\varepsilon^{-\tau}}/2)^{1/2}$. A direct calculation shows that

$$\Delta^3 U(r) = -720\varepsilon$$

and that U(0) = 1, U'(0) = 0, $U''(0) = 2\varepsilon^{1-\tau}$, $U^{(3)}(0) = 0$, $U^{(4)}(0) = 24\varepsilon$, and $U^{(5)}(0) = 0$. It is to determine ε in such a way that $\Delta^3 U \ge -U^{-q}$. We observe that the maximum of U over $(0, (1/2 + \sqrt{1 + 4\varepsilon^{-\tau}}/2)^{1/2})$ is obtained at

$$r = \frac{\sqrt{3 + 3\sqrt{1 + 3\varepsilon^{-\tau}}}}{3}.$$

 $\frac{1}{27} \big[(6\varepsilon^{-\tau} + 2) \sqrt{1 + 3\varepsilon^{-\tau}} + 9\varepsilon^{-\tau} + 2 \big] \varepsilon + 1.$

In addition, the maximum value of U at this point is

for all r > 0. Finally, choose

$$\beta < \min\left\{ (2/3)\varepsilon^{1-\tau}, (24/5)\varepsilon \right\}$$

we set $\overline{U} = U$. Thus, we have just proved that \overline{U} to (2.11) with $\overline{U}(0) = 1$, $\Delta \overline{U}(0) = \underline{\beta}$, $\Delta^2 \overline{U}(0) = \underline{\beta}$ is a super-solution which has compact support.

Then analogue to [KR03, Lemma 3.5], we prove that any solution to (2.11) is entire if β is large.

Lemma 2.10. There exists some $\overline{\beta} > 0$ such that for all $\beta \geq \overline{\beta}$, there exists at least one entire solution of (2.11) satisfying

$$u(0) = 1, \quad \Delta u(0) = \beta, \quad \Delta^2 u(0) = \beta.$$

Proof. The idea of proof is to construct an entire sub-solution U to (2.11) with the initial conditions $\underline{U}(0) = 1$, $\Delta \underline{U}(0) = \beta$, and $\Delta^2 \underline{U}(0) = \beta$. Indeed, let $m \in \mathbf{R}$ be fixed and set 2m

$$U(r) = (1+r^2)^r$$

It is easy to verify that

$$\Delta^3 U(r) = \sum_{3 \le k \le 6} A_k(m) (1+r^2)^{m-k}$$

where

$$\begin{cases}
A_3(m) = 8m(m-1)(m-2)(2m+1)(2m-1)(2m-3), \\
A_4(m) = -48m(m-1)(m-2)(m-3)(2m-1)(2m-3), \\
A_5(m) = 96m(m-1)(m-2)(m-3)(m-4)(2m-3), \\
A_6(m) = -64(m-5)(m-4)(m-3)m(m-1)(m-2).
\end{cases}$$

For $m \in (3/2, 2)$, it is not hard to see that $A_3(m) < 0$, $A_4(m) < 0$, $A_5(m) < 0$, and $A_6(m) < 0$. Hence $\Delta^3 U(r) < 0$ provided $m \in (3/2, 2)$. Now we let b > 0 and set

$$\underline{U}(r) = U(br).$$

Clearly, $\Delta^3 \underline{U}(r) = b^6 \Delta^3 U(br)$ and $\underline{U}(0) = 1, \underline{U}''(0) = 2mb^2, \underline{U}^{(4)}(0) = 12m(m-1)b^4, \underline{U}'(0) = 0, \underline{U}^{(3)}(0) = 0$, and $\underline{U}^{(5)}(0) = 0$. Therefore, because $0 < (1 + b^2r^2)^{-mq} < 1$, there holds

$$\Delta^3 \underline{U}(r) + \underline{U}^{-q}(r) = b^6 (\Delta^3 U)(br) + (1 + b^2 r^2)^{-mq} < 0$$

provided we choose b large enough. Hence, for b large enough and fix it, we have shown that \underline{U} is an entire sub-solution to (2.11) with $\underline{U}(0) = 1$, $\Delta \underline{U}(0) = (2/3)mb^2$, and $\Delta^2 \underline{U}(0) = (12/5)m(m-1)b^4$. Now we set

$$\overline{\beta} = \max\{(2/3)mb^2, (12/5)m(m-1)b^4\}$$

and the proof follows.

In view of Lemmas 2.9–2.10, it is possible to conclude the existence of a threshold for β , denoted by β^* , similar to a threshold obtained in [KR03, Theorem 3.1]; see also [Gue12, Proposition 2.1].

Proposition 2.11. Assume that q > 1/2 and $\beta > 0$. Let U_{β} be the unique local solution of (2.10) above. Then there is a unique $\beta^* > 0$ such that:

(a) If
$$\beta < \beta^*$$
 then $R_{\max}(\beta) < \infty$.

- (b) If $\beta \ge \beta^*$ then $R_{\max}(\beta) = \infty$.
- (c) If $\beta \geq \beta^*$ then

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_\beta(r) \ge 0.$$

12

425 426

427 428

429

430

431

432 433

434

435

436

437

438

439

440

441

442 443

444 445

446 447

448

449

450 451

452

453

454

455 456

457 458

459

460 461

(d) We have
$$\beta = \beta^*$$
 if and only if

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_\beta(r) = 0$$

Proof. First, we prove the uniqueness of β^* . Indeed, we shall prove that U_{β^*} is the unique solution such that

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_\beta(r) = 0.$$

By way of contradiction, we suppose that there are $0 < \beta^* < \beta^{**}$ such that

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_{\beta^{\star}}(r) = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_{\beta^{\star \star}}(r) = 0.$$

By the comparison principle, we know that $U_{\beta^{\star\star}} > U_{\beta^{\star}}$ on $(0, +\infty)$. Therefore,

$$-(U_{\beta^{\star\star}}^{-q} - U_{\beta^{\star}}^{-q}) = r^{-2} \left(r^2 (\Delta^2)' (U_{\beta^{\star\star}} - U_{\beta^{\star}}) \right)' > 0$$

on $(0, +\infty)$, which implies that $(\Delta^2)'(U_{\beta^{\star\star}} - U_{\beta^{\star}}) > 0$ on $(0, +\infty)$. From this we obtain a contradiction since

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 (U_{\beta^{\star\star}} - U_{\beta^{\star}})(r) = 0$$

Part (a). By Lemma 2.9, there is a $\underline{\beta} > 0$ such that any solution u to (2.11) with u(0) = 1, $\Delta u(0) = \underline{\beta}$, and $\Delta^2 u(0) = \underline{\beta}$ has compact support. Using the comparison principle we see that for any $\beta < \underline{\beta}$ any solution u to (2.11) with u(0) = 1, $\Delta u(0) = \beta$, and $\Delta^2 u(0) = \beta$ also has compact support. Therefore, we may define

$$\beta^{\star} = \sup \left\{ \beta \middle| \begin{array}{l} \text{any solution } u \text{ of } (2.11) \text{ with } u(0) = 1, \Delta u(0) = \beta, \\ \text{and } \Delta^2 u(0) = \beta \text{ has compact support} \end{array} \right\}$$

Thanks to Lemma 2.10, we deduce that β^* is finite and positive. Consequently, any solution u to (2.11) with u(0) = 1, $\Delta u(0) = \beta$, and $\Delta^2 u(0) = \beta > \beta^*$ is entire. This establishes Part (a).

Part (b). It suffices to prove that any solution u to (2.11) with u(0) = 1, $\Delta u(0) = \beta^*$, and $\Delta^2 u(0) = \beta^*$ is entire. Indeed, let $R(\beta)$ be the first zero of the solution u to (2.11) with u(0) = 1, $\Delta u(0) = \beta$, and $\Delta^2 u(0) = \beta < \beta^*$. Since $\beta < \beta^*$, the number $R(\beta)$ exists and is finite. By the comparison principle, the function $R(\beta)$ is non-decreasing in β . Moreover, for two solutions u_1 and u_2 of (2.11) with $u_i(0) = 1$, $\Delta u_i(0) = \beta$ with i = 1, 2, and

$$\Delta^2 u_1(0) = \beta_1 < \beta_2 = \Delta^2 u_2(0),$$

we find that

$$\Delta^2 u_1(r) < \Delta^2 u_2(r)$$

in their common interval of existence. From this we deduce that $(u_1 - u_2)^{(3)}(r) < 0$. In particular, this implies that $(u_1 - u_2)'(r) < 0$; hence the gap between two solutions is increasing. Consequently, $R(\beta)$ is strictly increasing in β . This and the continuous dependence of the solution on initial values tell us that $R(\beta)$ is in fact continuous. Now we assume for contradiction that $R(\beta) \rightarrow R$ for some finite number R as $\beta \nearrow \beta^*$. However, this is impossible due to the continuous dependence of the solution on initial values. This proves Part (b).

Part (c). Let $\beta \geq \beta^*$. Suppose that

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_\beta(r) < 0.$$

Integrating gives

$$U_{\beta}(r) \leq -C_1 r^4 + C_2 r^3 + C_3 r^2 + C_4 r + C_5$$

for all $r \ge 0$ with $C_1 > 0$, which is impossible; so Part (c) follows.

Part (d). Suppose that

$$\lim_{\substack{n \neq +\infty}} \Delta^2 U_\beta(r) > 0.$$

It is easy to see that $U_{\beta}(r) \ge cr^4$, $U'_{\beta}(r) \ge cr^3$, $U''_{\beta}(r) \ge cr^2$, and $U''_{\beta}(r) \ge cr$ for all r > 0 and for some constant c > 0. Using $r^{-2}(r^2(\Delta^2 U_{\beta})'(r))' = -U_{\beta}^{-q}$, we deduce that

$$(\Delta^2 U_\beta)'(r) \ge -c \begin{cases} r^{-2} & \text{if } q > 3/4, \\ r^{-2} \log r & \text{if } q = 3/4, \\ r^{1-4q} & \text{if } q < 3/4, \end{cases}$$

for all $r \ge 2$ and for some new constant c > 0. Let $m \in (3/2, 2)$ to be fixed and set

$$U(r) = (1+r^2)^m$$

Recall from the proof of Lemma 2.10 that

$$\Delta^3 U(r) = \sum_{3 \le k \le 6} A_k(m) (1+r^2)^{m-k},$$

where $A_k(m) < 0$ for all $3 \le k \le 6$ whenever $m \in (3/2, 2)$. Let b > 0 and set

$$\overline{U}(r) = U(br).$$

Also as in the proof of Lemma 2.10, if we choose b large enough, then we have $\Delta^3 \overline{U} + \overline{U}^{-q} \leq 0$. In addition, there exists some r_0 such that

$$\begin{cases} U_{\beta}(r_0) > \overline{U}(r_0), \quad \Delta U_{\beta}(r_0) > \Delta \overline{U}(r_0), \quad \Delta^2 U_{\beta}(r_0) > \Delta^2 \overline{U}(r_0), \\ U_{\beta}'(r_0) > \overline{U}'(r_0), \quad (\Delta U_{\beta})'(r_0) > (\Delta \overline{U})'(r_0), \quad (\Delta^2 U_{\beta})'(r_0) > (\Delta^2 \overline{U})'(r_0). \end{cases}$$

By the continuous dependence of solutions and Lemma 2.1, there is $\beta_1 < \beta$ such that $U_{\beta_1} \ge \overline{U}$ for all $r \ge r_0$. This shows that U_{β_1} exists for all $r \ge 0$; hence $\beta_1 \ge \beta^*$. From this we deduce that $\beta > \beta^*$. Now we suppose that $\beta > \beta^*$. Then there holds

$$(\Delta^2 U_\beta)'(r) > (\Delta^2 U_{\beta^\star})'(r)$$

for all $r \ge 0$. Using the initial data and by integration by parts, we obtain

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_{\beta}(r) - \beta \ge \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_{\beta^{\star}}(r) - \beta^{\star}$$

which implies

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_{\beta}(r) \ge \beta - \beta^*$$

The proof of Part (d) is complete.

3. CLASSIFICATION OF GROWTH AT INFINITY FOR RADIAL SOLUTIONS TO (1.1): PROOF OF THEOREM 1.1

In this section, we are interested in the exact growth at infinity for radial solutions to (1.1). We observe from Lemma 2.2 and (2.4) the limit $\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 u(r)$ exists and is non-negative. The main result of this section is the following:

Proposition 3.1. Let u be a radial solution to (1.1). Then we have the following claims:

(I) If

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 u(r) > 0, \tag{3.1}$$

then $u(r) \approx r^4$ for any q > 1/2. (II) If

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 u(r) = 0, \tag{3.2}$$

then $u(r) = o(r^4)$ at infinity. Furthermore, we have the following possibilities:

538 (a)
$$u(r) \approx r^3 \text{ if } p > 1;$$

(b) $u(r) \approx r^3 \sqrt{\log r}$ if p = 1; and

(c)
$$u(r) \approx r^{6/(q+1)}$$
 if $1/2$

Clearly, Theorem 1.1 follows from Proposition 3.1 above. Hence, in the rest of this section, we prove this proposition. From our point of view, the most difficult part is (IIc); to handle this case, new arguments are introduced, see the proof of Lemma 3.10.

3.1. Solutions with quartic growth. Now we prove Part (I) of Proposition 3.1. For simplicity, set

$$\wp = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 u(r) > 0.$$

In view of (2.4), there holds $\Delta^2 u(r) \ge \wp$ for any $r \ge 0$. Integrating this differential inequality as in the preceding subsection, we deduce that u grows at least quartically at infinity and this is enough to conclude that $u(r) \approx r^4$. In the next two subsections, we prove Part (II) of Proposition 3.1.

3.2. Solutions with non-quartic growth. We start by observing that whenever

$$\lim_{r\nearrow+\infty}\Delta^2 u(r)=0$$

there holds $u(r) = o(r^4)$ at infinity. This is elementary because the zero limit implies that

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} r^{-4} (r^4 u^{(3)}(r))' = 0$$

which then implies, by the l'Hôpital rule, that

$$u^{(3)}(r) = o(r), \quad u''(r) = o(r^2), \quad u'(r) = o(r^3), \quad u(r) = o(r^4)$$
 (3.3)

at infinity. We now examine the growth of u at infinity more closely because $u(r) = o(r^4)$ is not what we need.

3.2.1. Proof of Proposition 3.1(IIa). We now consider Part (II) under the case q > 1. By integration by parts, we obtain from $\Delta w = -u^{-q}$ the following

$$w(r) = w(0) + \frac{1}{r} \int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds - \int_0^r s u^{-q} ds.$$
(3.4)

Since u grows at least cubic at infinity and q > 1, it is easy to see that $r^2 u^{-q} \to 0$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. In (3.4), we send r to $+\infty$ to obtain

$$w(0) = \int_0^{+\infty} s u^{-q} ds < +\infty$$

Still by integration by parts, we obtain from (3.4) and $\Delta^2 u = w$ the identity

$$u(r) = u(0) + \frac{\Delta u(0)}{6}r^{2} + \frac{r^{4}}{120}\int_{r}^{+\infty} su(s)^{-q}ds - \frac{r^{2}}{12}\int_{0}^{r}s^{3}u(s)^{-q}ds - \frac{1}{24}\int_{0}^{r}s^{5}u(s)^{-q}ds + \frac{r^{3}}{24}\int_{0}^{r}s^{2}u(s)^{-q}ds + \frac{r}{12}\int_{0}^{r}s^{4}u(s)^{-q}ds + \frac{1}{120r}\int_{0}^{r}s^{6}u(s)^{-q}ds$$

$$(3.5)$$

in \mathbb{R}^3 . It is worth noting that the representation (3.5) is valid for all q > 1. Let us denote by Ξ all terms in (3.5) involving integrals, that is

$$\Xi(r) = \frac{r^4}{120} \int_r^{+\infty} su(s)^{-q} ds - \frac{r^2}{12} \int_0^r s^3 u(s)^{-q} ds - \frac{1}{24} \int_0^r s^5 u(s)^{-q} ds + \frac{r^3}{24} \int_0^r s^2 u(s)^{-q} ds + \frac{r}{12} \int_0^r s^4 u(s)^{-q} ds + \frac{1}{120r} \int_0^r s^6 u(s)^{-q} ds$$

Our aim is to show that $\Xi(r)$ has cubic growth at infinity. To achieve that goal, we use the l'Hôpital rule to see that

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Xi'''(r) = \frac{1}{4} \int_0^{+\infty} s^2 u(s)^{-q} ds > 0$$

Note that the preceding limit is also finite, thanks to q > 1. From this we conclude that u has exactly cubic growth at infinity.

Remark 3.2. Concerning Proposition 3.1(IIa), it is worth noticing that the reserve case also holds, that is, if u is a positive solution to (1.1) having cubic growth (uniformly) at infinity, then q > 1. The argument is similar to the one used in [CX09].

Next we consider Part (II) under the case $1/2 < q \le 1$, which shows that radial solutions to (1.1) satisfying (3.2) grow between cubic and quartic at infinity. To obtain the desired result, we exploit several ODE techniques used in [DFG10] and in [Lai14]. The idea is to transform (1.1) into a high order ODE via the following change of variable

$$W(t) = e^{mt}u(e^t)$$

where m = -6/(q+1) and $t = \log r$. By direct computation, we observe the following.

Lemma 3.3. Let q > 1/2. If u(r) is a positive radial solution to (1.1), then W(t) solves

$$Q_6(m-\partial)W = -W^{-q},\tag{3.6}$$

where we formally define

$$Q_6(m-\partial) = \prod_{1 \le k \le 6} (\partial - m - 5 + k)$$

with $\partial = d/dt$.

For simplicity, we put $\lambda_k = m+5-k$ with $1 \le k \le 6$, namely $\lambda_1 = 2(2q-1)/(q+1)$, $\lambda_2 = 3(q-1)/(q+1)$, $\lambda_3 = 2(q-2)/(q+1)$, $\lambda_4 = (q-5)/(q+1)$, $\lambda_5 = -6/(q+1)$, and $\lambda_6 = -(q+7)/(q+1)$. By the variation of parameters formula, the solution W(t) to (3.6) has an integral representation given as follows.

Lemma 3.4. Let W(t) be a solution to (3.6). Given any t_0 , then there exist constants α_i such that

$$W(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{6} \left(\alpha_i e^{\lambda_i t} - d_i \int_{t_0}^t e^{\lambda_i (t-s)} W^{-q} ds \right),$$
(3.7)

where

$$d_i = \prod_{j=1, \ j \neq i}^{6} (\lambda_i - \lambda_j)^{-1}$$

More precisely, we have $d_1 = 1/120$, $d_2 = -1/24$, $d_3 = 1/12$, $d_4 = -1/12$, $d_5 = 1/24$, and $d_6 = -1/120$.

We note that we also have an expansion form for (3.6) given by

$$W^{(6)} + \sum_{i=0}^{5} K_i W^{(i)} = -W^{-q},$$

where

$$\begin{cases} K_0 = \frac{72(2q-1)(q-1)(q-2)(q-5)(q+7)}{(q+1)^6} < 0, \\ K_1 = \frac{12(q-3)(2q^4 - 10q^3 - 249q^2 + 512q - 223)}{(q+1)^5}, \\ K_2 = -\frac{2(13q^4 + 187q^3 - 2217q^2 + 4777q - 2552)}{(q+1)^4}, \\ K_3 = -\frac{15(q-3)(q^2 - 34q + 37)}{(q+1)^3} > 0, \\ K_4 = \frac{5(5q^2 - 44q + 59)}{(q+1)^2} > 0, \\ K_5 = -\frac{9(q-3)}{q+1} > 0. \end{cases}$$

Note that in the range (1/2, 1], the sign of K_1 and K_2 is not constant. The constant K_0 is already appeared in the statement of Theorem 1.2(c) and in terms of Q_6 , we can express $K_0 = Q_6(m)$. With all ingredients above, we are now in position to prove Theorem 1.2(b, c).

3.2.2. Proof of Proposition 3.1(IIb). In this subsection, we restrict ourselves to the case q = 1, which leads to $K_0 = 0$ and m = -3. For clarity, we split our proof of Part (d) into three steps as follows.

Lemma 3.5.
$$W(t)$$
 is unbounded

Proof. We prove by way of contradiction. Indeed, suppose that W(t) is bounded, then there exists A > 0 and $t_0 > 0$ such that

$$\left(W^{(5)} + \sum_{i=1}^{5} K_i W^{(i-1)}\right)' = -W^{-q} \le -A$$

for all $t \ge t_0$. Integrating both sides gives

$$\left(W^{(4)} + \sum_{i=2}^{5} K_i W^{(i-2)}\right)' \le -A(t-t_0) + A_1$$

for all $t \ge t_0$. By continuing this process, we shall obtain the following estimate

$$W(t) \le -\frac{A}{6!}(t-t_0)^6 + o((t-t_0)^6)$$

as $t \nearrow +\infty$. This contradicts to the fact that W(t) > 0 for all t. Hence W(t) is unbounded on any $[t_0, +\infty)$ as claimed.

Lemma 3.6. There holds $W(t) \nearrow +\infty$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$.

Proof. For q = 1, (3.6) becomes

$$(\partial + 4)(\partial + 3)(\partial + 2)(\partial + 1)(\partial - 1)W' = -W^{-1} < 0.$$

Multiplying by e^{4s} and integrating over $(-\infty, s)$, we get

$$e^{4s}(\partial+3)(\partial+2)(\partial+1)(\partial-1)W' \le 0$$

since $W^{-1}(s) \to 0$ as $s \to -\infty$. Therefore

$$(\partial + 3)(\partial + 2)(\partial + 1)(\partial - 1)W' \le 0.$$

Performing a similar argument, we eventually obtain $(e^{-s}W'(s))' \leq 0$. Therefore, the function $e^{-s}W'(s)$ is monotone decreasing. Thanks to (3.3), we deduce that

$$e^{-s}W'(s) = -3e^{-4s}u(e^s) + e^{-3s}u'(e^s) \to 0$$

as $s \nearrow +\infty$. Thus, there must hold W'(s) > 0. Combining with the fact that W(s) is unbounded, we obtain $\lim_{s \nearrow +\infty} W(s) = +\infty$ as claimed.

Lemma 3.7. There holds

$$\lim_{r \not\to +\infty} \frac{u(r)}{r^3 (\log r)^{1/2}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{12}}$$

Proof. Note that when q = 1, we have m = 3, $\lambda_1 = 1$, $\lambda_2 = 0$, $\lambda_3 = -1$, $\lambda_4 = -2$, $\lambda_5 = -3$, and $\lambda_6 = -4$. Thanks to (3.3), in this case, $e^{-t}W(t) = r^{-4}u(r) = o(1)$ at infinity. Thus, multiplying both side of (3.7) by e^{-t} and sending $t \nearrow +\infty$ in the resulting equation gives

$$\alpha_1 = d_1 \int_{t_0}^{+\infty} e^{-s} W^{-1} ds$$

Hence,

$$W(t) = d_1 \int_t^{+\infty} e^{(t-s)} W^{-1} ds + \sum_{i=2}^6 \left(\alpha_i e^{\lambda_i t} - d_i \int_{t_0}^t e^{\lambda_i (t-s)} W^{-1} ds \right).$$

By direct computing and using the relation $\sum_{i=1}^{6} d_i = 0$, we easily get

$$W'(t) = d_1 \int_t^{+\infty} e^{(t-s)} W^{-1} ds + \sum_{i=3}^6 \lambda_i \Big(\alpha_i e^{\lambda_i t} - d_i \int_{t_0}^t e^{\lambda_i (t-s)} W^{-1} ds \Big).$$

Hence, by the Hôpital rule, we easily verify W'(t) = o(1) at infinity. Furthermore, making use of the Hôpital rule, we can estimate

$$\lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} W'(t)W(t) = \lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} d_1 W(t) \int_t^{+\infty} e^{(t-s)} W^{-1} ds + \lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} \sum_{i=3}^6 \lambda_i \Big(\alpha_i W(t) e^{\lambda_i t} - d_i W(t) \int_{t_0}^t e^{\lambda_i (t-s)} W^{-1} ds \Big) = d_1 + \sum_{i=3}^6 d_i = -d_2 = \frac{1}{24},$$

which immediately implies that

$$\lim_{t \neq +\infty} \frac{W^2(t)}{t} = 2 \lim_{t \neq +\infty} W'(t)W(t) = \frac{1}{12}$$

From this it is easy to obtain

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r)}{r^3 (\log r)^{1/2}} = \lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} \frac{W(t)}{\sqrt{t}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{12}}$$

The present proof is complete.

3.2.3. *Proof of Proposition* 3.1(IIc). We need a few steps to prove this part. First, we need a lemma which essentially says that W is bounded.

Lemma 3.8. Let W(t) be solution of (3.6). Then, the following assertions hold.

- (i) It cannot happen that $W(t) \nearrow +\infty$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$.
- (ii) If the limit $\lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} W(t) = L$ exists, then

Proof. For 1/2 < q < 1, we have $\lambda_1 > 0$ and $\lambda_i < 0$ for $2 \le i \le 6$. Recall that $\lambda_1 = 2(2q-1)/(q+1)$, which implies that $e^{-\lambda_1 t}W(t) = u(r)/r^4 = o(1)$ at infinity. Suppose that $\lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} W(t) = +\infty$. By multiplying both side of (3.7) by $e^{-\lambda_1 t}$ and sending $t \nearrow +\infty$ in the resulting equation, we obtain

 $L = (-K_0)^{-1/(q+1)}.$

$$\alpha_1 = d_1 \int_{t_0}^{+\infty} e^{-\lambda_1 s} W^{-q} ds$$

Hence, it is not hard to verify that

$$W(t) = d_1 \int_t^{+\infty} e^{\lambda_1(t-s)} W^{-q} ds + \sum_{i=2}^6 \left(\alpha_i e^{\lambda_i t} - d_i \int_{t_0}^t e^{\lambda_i(t-s)} W^{-q} ds \right).$$

Using the l'Hôpital rule, we can easily check that $W(t) \to 0$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$, which contradicts the assumption $\lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} W(t) = +\infty$. Therefore, W(t) cannot diverge to $+\infty$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$. This establishes part (i).

We now prove part (ii). Assume that the limit $\lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} W(t) = L$ exists with $L \neq (-K_0)^{-1/(q+1)}$. Then

$$\alpha := \lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} \left(-K_0 W(t) - W^{-q}(t) \right) \neq 0.$$

Therefore, there exist two constants M, T > 0 such that either

$$-K_0 W(t) - W^{-q}(t) < -M \quad \text{for all } t \ge T$$

if $\alpha < 0$ or

$$-K_0 W(t) - W^{-q}(t) > M \quad \text{for all } t \ge T$$

if $\alpha > 0$. Putting

$$\delta = \sup_{t > T} |W(t) - W(T)| < +\infty$$

Upon using the relation

$$\left(W^{(5)} + \sum_{i=2}^{5} K_i W^{(i-1)} + K_1 W\right)' = -K_0 W - W^{-q}$$

we obtain

$$W^{(5)} + \sum_{i=2}^{5} K_i W^{(i-1)} < -M(t-T) + |K_1|\delta + C \quad \text{for all } t \ge T$$

if $\alpha < 0$ and

$$W^{(5)} + \sum_{i=2}^{5} K_i W^{(i-1)} > M(t-T) - |K_1|\delta + C \quad \text{for all } t \ge T$$

if $\alpha > 0$. Here C = C(T) is a constant containing all the terms $W^{(i)}(T)$ with $1 \le i \le 5$. Repeating the above process, we get

$$W(t) \le -\frac{M}{6!}(t-T)^6 + O(t^5)$$

 $\text{if} \ \alpha < 0 \ \text{and} \\$

$$W(t) \ge \frac{M}{6!}(t-T)^6 + O(t^5)$$

if $\alpha > 0$. This contradicts to our assumption that L is finite. Hence, there holds $L = (-K_0)^{-1/(q+1)}$ as claimed.

Next, we rule out the case W(t) approaching zero, which is important because our equation (3.6) involves a negative exponent.

Lemma 3.9. Let W(t) be a solution to (3.6). Then,

$$\liminf_{t \nearrow +\infty} W(t) > 0.$$

Proof. We adopt the method used in [DFG10]. However, there is some improvement due to the fact that solutions to (1.1) only enjoys the partially super polyharmonic property, see Lemma 2.2. First we observe from Lemma 3.8(ii) and the inequality W(t) > 0 that

$$\limsup_{t \nearrow +\infty} W(t) > 0.$$

Suppose by contradiction that $\liminf_{t \nearrow +\infty} W(t) = 0$. Then, there is a sequence $(t_k)_k$ such that $t_k \nearrow +\infty$, $t_{k+1} \ge t_k + 1$, $W(t_k) \to 0$, $W'(t_k) = 0$, and $W''(t_k) \ge 0$. Put $R_k = e^{t_k}$ and define

$$U_k(r) = \frac{u(R_{k+1}r)}{W(t_{k+1})R_{k+1}^{-m}}.$$

Keep in mind that m = -6/(q+1). Then U_k satisfies

$$\begin{cases} (-\Delta)^{3}U_{k} = W(t_{k+1})^{-q-1}U_{k}^{-q}, \\ U_{k}(1) = 1, \\ U_{k}(\frac{R_{k}}{R_{k+1}}) = \frac{u(R_{k})}{u(R_{k+1})}. \end{cases}$$
(3.8)

Since u'(r) > 0 and $R_{k+1} > R_k$, we conclude that $U_k(R_k/R_{k+1}) < 1$. Besides, as

$$\Delta^2 U_k(r) = \frac{R_{k+1}^{m+4}}{W(t_{k+1})} (\Delta^2 u) (R_{k+1}r), \quad \Delta U_k(r) = \frac{R_{k+1}^{m+2}}{W(t_{k+1})} (\Delta u) (R_{k+1}r)$$

and with help of Lemma 2.6, we deduce that

$$\Delta U_k(1) = \frac{R_{k+1}^{m+2}}{W(t_{k+1})} (\Delta u)(R_{k+1}) \ge 0,$$

$$\Delta^2 U_k(1) = \frac{R_{k+1}^{m+4}}{W(t_{k+1})} (\Delta^2 u)(R_{k+1}) \ge 0,$$

$$\Delta U_k \left(\frac{R_k}{R_{k+1}}\right) = \frac{R_{k+1}^{m+2}}{W(t_{k+1})} (\Delta u)(R_k) \ge 0,$$

$$\Delta^2 U_k \left(\frac{R_k}{R_{k+1}}\right) = \frac{R_{k+1}^{m+4}}{W(t_{k+1})} (\Delta^2 u)(R_k) \ge 0,$$

for large k. Putting

$$D_k = B_1(0) \setminus \overline{B}_{R_k/R_{k+1}}(0), \quad D = B_{1/2}(0) \setminus \overline{B}_{1/e}(0).$$

Since $R_k/R_{k+1} < 1/e$, *D* is a proper subset of D_k for all *k*. Let λ be the first eigenvalue of the operator $-\Delta$ with the zero Dirichlet boundary condition in the annulus *D* and let $\varphi > 0$ be its associated eigenfunction, that is,

716
$$\begin{cases} -\Delta \varphi = \lambda \varphi & \text{in } D, \\ \varphi = 0 & \text{on } \partial D \end{cases}$$

Since φ is smooth up to the boundary ∂D and $D \subset D_k$, we extend φ smoothly to the whole \overline{D}_k by setting $\varphi \equiv 0$ in $\overline{D}_k \setminus D$. Then we know that $(-\Delta)^2 \varphi = \lambda^2 \varphi, \quad (-\Delta)^3 \varphi = \lambda^3 \varphi \quad \text{in } D$ and $\Lambda^2 = 0$ $\exists a = \frac{1}{2} \Lambda = \frac{1}{2} \Lambda^2 = 0$

$$\varphi = \Delta \varphi = \Delta^2 \varphi = 0, \quad \partial_n \varphi = \partial_n \Delta \varphi = \partial_n \Delta^2 \varphi = 0 \quad \text{on } \overline{D_k} \setminus D.$$

Multiplying both side of (3.8) by φ and integrating the resulting equation by parts to get

$$W(t_{k+1})^{-q-1} \int_{D_k} U_k^{-q} \varphi dx = -\int_{D_k} \varphi \Delta^3 U_k dx$$

$$= -\int_{D_k} U_k \Delta^3 \varphi dx - \int_{\partial D_k} \left[\varphi \frac{\partial \Delta^2 U_k}{\partial n} - \Delta^2 U_k \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} \right]$$

$$-\int_{\partial D_k} \left[\Delta \varphi \frac{\partial \Delta U_k}{\partial n} - \Delta U_k \frac{\partial \Delta \varphi}{\partial n} \right]$$

$$-\int_{\partial D_k} \left[\Delta^2 \varphi \frac{\partial U_k}{\partial n} - U_k \frac{\partial \Delta^2 \varphi}{\partial n} \right]$$

$$= \lambda^3 \int_{D_k} U_k \varphi dx.$$

Thanks to $U_k \in (0,1)$ and q > 0, we get $U_k \le U_k^{-q}$. Consequently, $\int_D U_k^{-q} \varphi dx \ge 0$ $\int_D U_k \varphi dx$. Therefore,

$$W(t_{k+1})^{-q-1} \le \lambda^3$$

for all k. This contradicts to our contradiction assumption that $W(t_{k+1}) \to 0$ as $k \nearrow +\infty$. Thus, $\liminf_{t \geq +\infty} W(t) > 0$ as claimed.

Lemma 3.10. There holds

$$\lim_{t \nearrow +\infty} W(t) = (-K_0)^{-1/(q+1)}.$$

Proof. Our proof consists of two parts. First we prove that W(t) is bounded on $[0, +\infty)$. For $q \in (1/2, 1)$, we observe that $\lambda_1 > 0$ and that $\lambda_j < 0$ for $2 \le j \le 6$. Set

$$\begin{cases} v_1(t) = (\partial - \lambda_1)W(t), \\ v_j(t) = (\partial - \lambda_j)v_{j-1}(t), & 2 \le j \le 5. \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

Then (3.6) becomes $(\partial - \lambda_6)v_5(t) = -W^{-q}(t)$ which implies

$$v_5(t) = e^{\lambda_6 t} v_5(0) + \int_0^t e^{\lambda_6(t-s)} (-W^{-q}(s)) ds.$$
(3.10)

By Lemma 3.9, $W^{-q}(t)$ is bounded on $[0, +\infty)$. Combining this property with $\lambda_6 < 0$, we easily see that $v_5(t)$ is bounded on $[0, +\infty)$. Repeating the above argument we deduce that the functions v_i for $1 \le i \le 4$ are also bounded on $[0, +\infty)$. Now integrating the differential equation of W in the system (3.9) we obtain

$$W(t) = e^{\lambda_1 t} \Big[W(0) + \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_1 s} v_1(s) ds \Big].$$

On the other hand, as in the first paragraph of the proof of Lemma 3.8, we deduce that $W(t) = o(e^{\lambda_1 t})$ at infinity. This leads us to

$$W(0) = -\int_0^{+\infty} e^{-\lambda_1 s} v_1(s) ds$$

In other words, there holds

$$W(t) = -e^{\lambda_1 t} \int_t^{+\infty} e^{-\lambda_1 s} v_1(s) ds, \qquad (3.11)$$

which immediately implies that W(t) is bounded on $[0, +\infty)$. Next we prove that W(t) has limit at infinity. Indeed, the boundedness of W(t) allows us to set

$$\liminf_{t \to +\infty} W(t) = B, \quad \limsup_{t \to +\infty} W(t) = A,$$

which are positive and finite. From this, given $\varepsilon > 0$, we exist some $T \gg 1$ such that

 $B - \varepsilon < W(t) < A + \varepsilon$

for all $t \ge T$. Similar to (3.10), we use the equation for v_5 in (3.10) to get

$$v_5(t) = e^{\lambda_6(t-T)} v_5(T) + \int_T^t e^{\lambda_6(t-s)} (-W^{-q}(s)) ds,$$

which implies that

$$-(B+\varepsilon)^{-q}\frac{1-e^{\lambda_6(t-T)}}{-\lambda_6} \le v_5(t) - v_5(T)e^{\lambda_6(t-T)} \le -(A+\varepsilon)^{-q}\frac{1-e^{\lambda_6(t-T)}}{-\lambda_6}$$

for all $t \ge T$. First appropriately sending t to infinity then sending ε down to zero, we deduce that

$$\frac{-B^{-q}}{-\lambda_6} \le \liminf_{t \to +\infty} v_5(t) \le \limsup_{t \to +\infty} v_5(t) \le \frac{-A^{-q}}{-\lambda_6}.$$

Repeating this process for the functions v_{5-i} with $1 \le i \le 4$, we eventually obtain

$$\frac{-B^{-q}}{-\prod_{j=2}^{6}\lambda_j} \le \liminf_{t \to +\infty} v_1(t) \le \limsup_{t \to +\infty} v_1(t) \le \frac{-A^{-q}}{-\prod_{j=2}^{6}\lambda_j}$$

We now use (3.11) to deduce that

$$-\frac{-B^{-q}}{-\prod_{j=1}^6 \lambda_j} \le \liminf_{t \to +\infty} (-W(t)) \le \limsup_{t \to +\infty} (-W(t)) \le \frac{-A^{-q}}{-\prod_{j=1}^6 \lambda_j}.$$

Keep in mind that $\prod_{j=1}^{6} \lambda_j = K_0 < 0$. Hence

$$\frac{-B^{-q}}{-K_0} \le -A \le -B \le \frac{-A^{-q}}{-K_0}$$

From the above inequalities we obtain $A = B = (-K_0)^{-1/(q+1)}$. This completes the present proof.

Clearly, Theorem 1.1 follows from Propositions 2.5 and 3.1 above. Hence we omit its proof.

4. An autonomous 6-dimensional system

To study the asymptotic behavior of (2.1), we follow the ideas in [HV96]. First, by the Emden–Fowler transformation we set

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(t) &= \frac{ru'(r)}{u(r)}, \quad x_2(t) = \frac{rv'(r)}{v(r)}, \quad x_3(t) = \frac{rw'(r)}{w(r)}, \\ x_4(t) &= \frac{r^2v(r)}{u(r)}, \quad x_5(t) = \frac{r^2w(r)}{v(r)}, \quad x_6(t) = \frac{r^2u^{-q}(r)}{w(r)}, \end{aligned}$$

with $t = \log r$. Clearly, the system (2.1) is transformed into a 6-dimensional system of the form

$$\begin{cases} x_1' = x_1(-1 - x_1) + x_4, \\ x_2' = x_2(-1 - x_2) + x_5, \\ x_3' = x_3(-1 - x_3) - x_6, \\ x_4' = x_4(2 - x_1 + x_2), \\ x_5' = x_5(2 - x_2 + x_3), \\ x_6' = x_6(2 - qx_1 - x_3), \end{cases}$$
(4.1)

where we denote ' = d/dt. The linearization of (4.1) at the point $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6)$ is given by the following matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} -1-2x_1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1-2x_2 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1-2x_3 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ -x_4 & x_4 & 0 & 2-x_1+x_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -x_5 & x_5 & 0 & 2-x_2+x_3 & 0 \\ -qx_6 & 0 & -x_6 & 0 & 0 & 2-qx_1-x_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The following proposition is the main result of this section.

Proposition 4.1. Let

$$\wp = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} w(r).$$

Suppose that $r^2 u^{-q}(r) \to 0$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. Then we have the following identities

$$\frac{1}{x_1} = \frac{u(r)}{ru'(r)} = \frac{u(0)}{r^{-1} \int_0^r s^2 v(s) ds} + \frac{r \int_0^r s v(s) ds}{\int_0^r s^2 v(s) ds} - 1,$$
(4.2)

$$\frac{1}{x_2} = \frac{v(r)}{rv'(r)} = \frac{v(0)}{r^{-1}\int_0^r s^2 w(s)ds} + \frac{r\int_0^r sw(s)ds}{\int_0^r s^2 w(s)ds} - 1,$$
(4.3)

$$\frac{1}{x_3} = \frac{w(r)}{rw'(r)} = -\frac{\wp r}{\int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds} - \frac{r \int_r^{+\infty} s u^{-q} ds}{\int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds} - 1,$$
(4.4)

$$\frac{1}{x_4} = \frac{u(r)}{r^2 v(r)} = \frac{u(0)}{r^2 v(r)} - \frac{1}{r^3 v(r)} \int_0^r s^2 v(s) ds + \frac{1}{r^2 v(r)} \int_0^r s v(s) ds,$$
(4.5)

and

$$\frac{1}{x_5} = \frac{v(r)}{r^2 w(r)} = \frac{v(0)}{r^2 w(r)} - \frac{1}{r^3 w(r)} \int_0^r s^2 w(s) ds + \frac{1}{r^2 w(r)} \int_0^r s w(s) ds.$$
(4.6)

Proof. In view of (3.4) and the fact that $r^2 u^{-q}(r) \to 0$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$, after sending $r \nearrow +\infty$, we obtain

$$w(0) = \wp + \int_0^{+\infty} s u^{-q} ds < +\infty,$$

which implies that

$$w(r) = \wp + \frac{1}{r} \int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds + \int_r^{+\infty} s u^{-q} ds.$$

Now an easy computation shows that w(r)/(rw'(r)) has the representation provided by (4.4). To obtain (4.6), we observe from $\Delta v = w$ that

$$v(r) = v(0) - \frac{1}{r} \int_0^r s^2 w(s) ds + \int_0^r s w(s) ds.$$

From this, it is not hard to realize (4.6). To obtain (4.3), we combine the representation for v and

$$v'(r) = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_0^r s^2 w(s) ds.$$

Finally, (4.5) can be obtained through

$$u(r) = u(0) - \frac{1}{r} \int_0^r s^2 v(s) ds + \int_0^r s v(s) ds,$$

while (4.2) follows from the preceding identity and

$$u'(r) = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_0^r s^2 v(s) ds$$

The proof is complete.

In view of Proposition 2.11, we shall easily see that if $\beta > \beta^*$ then the radial solution $u = U_\beta$ to the ODE (2.10) grows at least quartically at infinity. Therefore, in view of Proposition 2.5, we must consider $u = U_{\beta^*}$ in proof of Theorem 1.2(a, b, c).

5. EXISTENCE OF RADIAL SOLUTIONS OF CUBIC GROWTH AT INFINITY: PROOF OF THEOREMS 1.2(A) AND 1.3

This section is devoted to a proof of the existence of radial solutions to (1.1) having a prescribed cubic growth at infinity. Following the last paragraph in the previous section, we examine the entire radial solution $u = U_{\beta^*}$ to the ODE (2.10) as a candidate.

5.1. Asymptotic behavior of the transformed system (4.1). In the first part of the proof, we study the asymptotic behavior of solution $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6)$ to (4.1) at infinity. For clarity, we divide our proof into several claims as follows. First, because

$$\wp = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 U_{\beta^\star} = 0.$$

(4.4) becomes

$$\frac{w(r)}{rw'(r)} = -\frac{r\int_r^{+\infty} su^{-q}ds}{\int_0^r s^2 u^{-q}ds} - 1$$

First, we study x_3 and x_6 . We establish the following:

Claim 1. There holds $w(r)/(rw'(r)) \to -1$ and $(r^2u^{-q})/w(r) \to 0$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. In other words, $x_3(t) \to -1$ and $x_6(t) \to 0$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$.

Proof of Claim 1. Since q > 1 we apply the l'Hôpital rule to get

$$\lim_{r \not \to +\infty} r \int_{r}^{+\infty} s u^{-q} ds = \lim_{r \not \to +\infty} r^{3} u^{-q} = 0$$

This helps us to conclude that $w(r)/(rw'(r)) \to -1$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. Thus, we obtain

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{r^2 u^{-q}}{w(r)} = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} -\frac{r^2 u^{-q}}{r w'(r)} = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{r^3 u^{-q}}{\int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds} = 0.$$

The proof of Claim 1 is complete.

Next we study x_2 and x_5 . We prove the following:

Claim 2. There holds $v(r)/(r^2w(r)) \to 1/2$ and $v(r)/(rv'(r)) \to 1$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. In other words, $x_5(t) \to 2$ and $x_2(t) \to 1$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$.

Proof of Claim 2. Recall $r^2w(r) = r \int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds + r^2 \int_r^{+\infty} s u^{-q} ds$ which implies that $r^2w(r) \nearrow +\infty$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. Therefore, by the l'Hôpital rule, we obtain

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{1}{r^3 w(r)} \int_0^r s^2 w(s) ds = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{1}{3 + r w'(r) / w(r)} = \frac{1}{2}$$

and

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{1}{r^2 w(r)} \int_0^r sw(s) ds = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{1}{2 + rw'(r)/w(r)} = 1.$$

In view of (4.6), we know that $v(r)/(r^2w(r)) \to 1/2$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. On the other hand, we use the representation (4.3) to get $v(r)/(rv'(r)) \to 1$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. The claim follows. \Box

Finally we study x_1 and x_4 . We show the following:

Claim 3. There holds $u(r)/(r^2v(r)) \to 1/12$ and $u(r)/(ru'(r)) \to 1/3$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. In other words, $x_4(t) \to 12$ and $x_1(t) \to 3$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$.

Proof of Claim 3. From $v(r)/(r^2w(r)) \to 1/2$ and $r^2w(r) \nearrow +\infty$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$, we obtain $v(r) \nearrow +\infty$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. Therefore, by the l'Hôpital rule, we get

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{1}{r^3 v(r)} \int_0^r s^2 v(s) ds = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{1}{3 + rv'(r)/v(r)} = \frac{1}{4}$$

and

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{1}{r^2 v(r)} \int_0^r s v(s) ds = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{1}{2 + r v'(r) / v(r)} = \frac{1}{3}$$

Again by (4.5), we have $v(r)/(r^2w(r)) \to 1/12$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. On the other hand, it follows from (4.2) that $u(r)/(ru'(r)) \to 1/3$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$.

From Claims 1, 2, and 3 above we see that the solution $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6)$ corresponding to the radially symmetric solution u is attracted to the fixed point

 $p_3 := (3, 1, -1, 12, 2, 0)$

at infinity. Therefore, the asymptotic behavior is obtained by analyzing the asymptotic behavior of solutions about fixed point p_3 of the system (4.1). At p_3 , the linearized matrix is

(-7)	0	0	1	0	0
0	-3	0	0	1	0
0	0	1	0	0	-1
-12	12	0	0	0	0
0	-2	2	0	0	0
$\int 0$	0	0	0	0	3 - 3q

which has the following eigenvalues $\lambda_1 = -1$, $\lambda_2 = -2$, $\lambda_3 = -3$, $\lambda_4 = -4$, $\lambda_5 = 3-3q$, and $\lambda_6 = 1$. Since these eigenvalues are non-zero whenever q > 1, we conclude that there exists a constant $c_q \neq 0$ such that the following asymptotic behavior occurs: For q > 4/3

$$\frac{ru'(r)}{u(r)} = 3 + c_q e^{-t} + o(e^{-t})_{t \nearrow +\infty}$$
(5.1)

while for q = 4/3

$$\frac{ru'(r)}{u(r)} = 3 + c_q t e^{-t} + o(t e^{-t})_{t \nearrow +\infty}$$
(5.2)

due to $\lambda_1 = \lambda_5$, and for 1 < q < 4/3

$$\frac{ru'(r)}{u(r)} = 3 + c_q e^{-(3q-3)t} + o(e^{-(3q-3)t})_{t \nearrow +\infty}.$$
(5.3)

5.2. **Proof of Theorem 1.2(a).** Put $h(t) = \log u(r)$ with $r = e^t$. Then we obtain h'(t) = (ru'(r))/u(r). Integrating both sides of (5.1), (5.2), and (5.3) gives

$$\frac{u(r)}{r^3} = \begin{cases} u(1) \exp \int_0^t \left(c_q e^{-s} + o(e^{-s}) \right) ds & \text{if } q > 4/3 \\ u(1) \exp \int_0^t \left(c_q s e^{-s} + o(s e^{-s}) \right) ds & \text{if } q = 4/3 \\ u(1) \exp \int_0^t \left(c_q e^{-(3q-3)s} + o(e^{-(3q-3)s}) \right) ds & \text{if } 1 < q < 4/3. \end{cases}$$

From this, it is easy to see that the following limit $\lim_{|x| \neq \infty} u(x)/|x|^3 = \kappa$ exists for some $\kappa > 0$. Given $\varpi > 0$, we scale the function u found in the preceding step as follows

$$\omega(r) = \left(\frac{\overline{\omega}}{\kappa}\right)^{\frac{2}{1-q}} u\left(\left(\frac{\overline{\omega}}{\kappa}\right)^{\frac{q+1}{3q-3}} r\right).$$

It is not hard to see that ω is also a solution of (1.1) and $\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \omega(x)/|x|^3 = \varpi$. The proof is complete.

5.3. **Proof of Theorem 1.3.** Using the presentation (3.5), it is not hard to verify that $u(r) \approx r^3$. To be more precise, we get

$$\kappa = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r)}{r^3} = \frac{1}{24} \int_0^{+\infty} s^2 u(s)^{-q} ds$$

Therefore,

$$u(r) - \kappa r^{3} = u(0) + \frac{\Delta u(0)}{6} r^{2} - \frac{r^{3}}{24} \int_{r}^{+\infty} s^{2} u(s)^{-q} ds + \frac{r^{4}}{120} \int_{r}^{+\infty} s u(s)^{-q} ds - \frac{r^{2}}{12} \int_{0}^{r} s^{3} u(s)^{-q} ds - \frac{1}{24} \int_{0}^{r} s^{5} u(s)^{-q} ds + \frac{r}{12} \int_{0}^{r} s^{4} u(s)^{-q} ds + \frac{1}{120r} \int_{0}^{r} s^{6} u(s)^{-q} ds.$$
(5.4)

Keep in mind that q > 1 and u has cubic growth at infinity. To prove the theorem, we make use of (5.1)–(5.3) plus the l'Hôpital rule to conclude the theorem. Indeed, when q > 4/3, there holds

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r) - \kappa r^3}{r^2} = \frac{\Delta u(0)}{6} - \frac{1}{12} \int_0^{+\infty} s^3 u(s)^{-q} ds$$

due to the contribution of the second term and the third integral in (5.4). When q = 4/3,

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r) - \kappa r^3}{r^2 \log r} = -\frac{1}{12\kappa^{4/3}}$$

due to the contribution of the third integral in (5.4) while in the case 1 < q < 4/3, we obtain

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r) - \kappa r^3}{r^{6-3q}} = \chi$$

due to the contribution of all six integrals in (5.4). (Here the constant χ is given in (1.7).) So, Theorem 1.3 is proved.

6. EXISTENCE OF RADIAL SOLUTIONS OF GROWTH BETWEEN CUBIC AND QUARTIC AT INFINITY: PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2(B,C)

This section is devoted to a proof of the existence of radial solutions to (1.1) having a prescribed growth between cubic and quartic at infinity. Following the last paragraph in the previous section, we examine the entire radial solution $u = U_{\beta^*}$ to the ODE (2.10) as a candidate.

Indeed, in view of Proposition 2.11(c), the radial solution u satisfies $\Delta^2 u(r) \searrow 0$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. Therefore, we can apply Proposition 3.1(II) to get $u(r) \approx r^3 \sqrt{\log r}$ at infinity when q = 1 while $u(r) \approx r^{6/(1+q)}$ at infinity when 1/2 < q < 1. In fact, we can say more. This is because by Lemma 3.7 there holds

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r)}{r^3 (\log r)^{1/2}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{12}}$$

when q = 1 and by Lemma 3.10 we know that

$$\lim_{t \neq +\infty} W(t) = (-K_0)^{-1/(1+q)}$$

when 1/2 < q < 1. The proof of Theorem 1.2(b,c) is complete.

7. EXISTENCE OF RADIAL SOLUTIONS OF QUARTIC GROWTH AT INFINITY: PROOF OF THEOREM 1.2(D) AND 1.4

In view of Proposition 3.1(II), we have to consider q in the whole range, that is, q > 1/2. In this section, we are interested in radial solutions of quartic growth at infinity. Let $\beta > \beta^*$ be arbitrary but fixed. Consider the solution $u = U_\beta$ to the ODE (2.10), which immediately yields that

$$\wp := \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \Delta^2 u(r) > 0$$

Therefore, u grows at least quartically at infinity and $\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} r^2 u^{-q} = 0$. Then, (4.4) becomes

$$\frac{w(r)}{rw'(r)} = -\frac{\gamma r}{\int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds} - \frac{r \int_r^{+\infty} s u^{-q} ds}{\int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds} - 1.$$

Now we study the asymptotic behavior of the point $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6)$ at infinity As always, we split our proof into several steps.

Claim 4. There holds $w(r)/(rw'(r)) \to -\infty$ and $w(r)/(r^2u^{-q}) \nearrow +\infty$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. In other words, $x_3(t) \to 0$ and $x_6(t) \to 0$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$.

Proof of Claim 4. We observe that if $\int_0^{+\infty} s^2 u^{-q} ds$ converges, then $w(r)/(rw'(r)) \to -\infty$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. Otherwise, we should have

$$\lim_{\nearrow +\infty} \frac{\gamma r}{\int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds} = \lim_{r \not \to +\infty} \frac{\gamma}{r^2 u^{-q}} = +\infty$$

Hence $w(r)/(rw'(r)) \to -\infty$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. On the other hand, we also have

$$\frac{w(r)}{r^2 u^{-q}} = \frac{\gamma}{r^2 u^{-q}} + \frac{1}{r^2 u^{-q}} \int_r^{+\infty} s u^{-q} ds + \frac{1}{r^3 u^{-q}} \int_0^r s^2 u^{-q} ds.$$

Therefore, $w(r)/(r^2u^{-q}) \nearrow +\infty$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$.

By the same arguments as in the proof of Claims 2, 3 in the previous section, we easily obtain the following claims.

Claim 5. There holds $v(r)/(r^2w(r)) \to 1/6$ and $v(r)/(rv'(r)) \to 1/2$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. In other words, $x_5(t) \to 6$ and $x_2(t) \to 2$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$.

Claim 6. There holds $u(r)/(r^2v(r)) \to 1/20$ and $u(r)/(ru'(r)) \to 1/4$ as $r \nearrow +\infty$. In other words, $x_4(t) \to 20$ and $x_1(t) \to 4$ as $t \nearrow +\infty$.

From Claims 4, 5, and 6 above we know that the solution $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6)$ corresponding to the radially symmetric solution u is attracted to the fixed point

$$p_4 := (4, 2, 0, 20, 6, 0)$$

at infinity. Therefore, the asymptotic behavior is obtained by analyzing the asymptotic behavior of solutions about fixed point p_4 of the system (4.1). At p_4 , the linearized matrix is

(-9)	0	0	1	0	0)
0	-5	0	0	1	0
0	0	$^{-1}$	0	0	-1
-20	20	0	0	0	0
0	-6	6	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	2 - 4q

which has the following eigenvalues $\lambda_1 = -1$, $\lambda_2 = -2$, $\lambda_3 = -3$, $\lambda_4 = -4$, $\lambda_5 = -5$, and $\lambda_6 = 2 - 4q$. So, these eigenvalues are non-zero whenever q > 1/2.

7.1. **Proof of Theorem 1.2(d).** Simply repeating the argument used in Section 5, the following limit $\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} u(x)/|x|^4 = \kappa$ exists for some $\kappa > 0$. Given $\varpi > 0$, we scale the function u found in the previous step as follows

$$\omega(r) = \left(\frac{\overline{\omega}}{\kappa}\right)^{\frac{3}{1-2q}} u\left(\left(\frac{\overline{\omega}}{\kappa}\right)^{\frac{q+1}{4q-2}}r\right)$$

Then, ω is also a solution of (1.1) with $\lim_{|x| \neq \infty} \omega(x)/|x|^4 = \varpi$. The proof is complete.

7.2. **Proof of Theorem 1.4.** Thanks to (3.5), we have

$$\begin{split} u(r) = & u(0) + \frac{\Delta u(0)}{6}r^2 + \frac{\wp}{120}r^4 \\ & + \frac{r^4}{120}\int_r^{+\infty}su(s)^{-q}ds - \frac{r^2}{12}\int_0^r s^3u(s)^{-q}ds - \frac{1}{24}\int_0^r s^5u(s)^{-q}ds \\ & + \frac{r^3}{24}\int_0^r s^2u(s)^{-q}ds + \frac{r}{12}\int_0^r s^4u(s)^{-q}ds + \frac{1}{120r}\int_0^r s^6u(s)^{-q}ds \end{split}$$

in \mathbf{R}^3 where

$$\wp = (\Delta^2 u)(0) - \int_0^{+\infty} s u(s)^{-q} ds,$$

which is finite since q > 1/2 and u is of exactly quartic growth at infinity by our assumption. From the presentation above, we get

$$\kappa = \lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r)}{r^4} = \frac{\wp}{120}$$

Therefore,

$$u(r) - \kappa r^{4} = u(0) + \frac{\Delta u(0)}{6} r^{2} + \frac{r^{4}}{120} \int_{r}^{+\infty} su(s)^{-q} ds - \frac{r^{2}}{12} \int_{0}^{r} s^{3} u(s)^{-q} ds - \frac{1}{24} \int_{0}^{r} s^{5} u(s)^{-q} ds + \frac{r^{3}}{24} \int_{0}^{r} s^{2} u(s)^{-q} ds + \frac{r}{12} \int_{0}^{r} s^{4} u(s)^{-q} ds + \frac{1}{120r} \int_{0}^{r} s^{6} u(s)^{-q} ds$$

$$(7.1)$$

The next, we use the l'Hôpital rule to conclude the theorem. Indeed, when q > 3/4, there holds

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r) - \kappa r^4}{r^3} = \frac{1}{24} \int_0^{+\infty} s^2 u(s)^{-q} ds$$

due to the contribution of the fourth integral in (7.1). When q = 3/4 we have

959
$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r) - \kappa r^4}{r^3 \log r} = \frac{1}{24\kappa^{3/4}}$$

due to the contribution of the fourth integral in (7.1) while in the case 1/2 < q < 3/4 we obtain

$$\lim_{r \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(r) - \kappa r^4}{r^{6-4q}} = \chi$$

due to the contribution of all six integrals in (7.1). (Here the constant χ is given in (1.8).) So, Theorem 1.4 is proved.

8. EXISTENCE OF NON-RADIAL SOLUTIONS TO (1.1): PROOF OF THEOREM 1.5

This section is devoted to proof of Theorem 1.5. As mentioned in Introduction, we adopt the method used in [HW19], see also [Alb21], namely, we look for a non-radial solution to (1.1) of the form $u = v + P_0$ where $P_0 \ge 1$ is a polynomial of degree 4. Note that $u = v + P_0$ satisfies (1.1) if, and only if, v satisfies $v + P_0 > 0$ and

$$\Delta^3 v = -(v + P_0)^{-q} \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3$$

Note that in \mathbb{R}^3 the fundamental solution of the triharmonic equation $\Delta^3 w = 0$ is nothing but $-|x|^3/(96\pi)$. Hence, it suffices to find v solving the following integral equation

$$v(x) = \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|x-y|^3}{\left(P_0(y) + v(y)\right)^q} dy \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3,$$

namely, our desired solution to (1.1) satisfies

$$u(x) = \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} |x - y|^3 u(y)^{-q} dy + P_0(x) \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3;$$

see Lemma 8.2 below. Compared with the work [HW19], our analysis is more involved because our polynomial P_0 has higher order and the kernel of the above inequality equation is $|x|^3$. To look for solutions to the above integral equation, we shall make use of the Schaefer Fixed Point Theorem. Let

$$X_{\rm ev} = \{ v \in C^0(\mathbf{R}^3) : v(x) = v(-x) \}.$$

Then, the space X_{ev} , endowed with the norm $\|\cdot\|$ given by

$$||v|| := \sup_{x \in \mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|v(x)|}{1 + |x|^3},$$

is a well-defined Banach space. At the first glance, it is not clear why we need the the symmetry in the definition of X_{ev} . We shall soon see this in the proof of following proposition. We start with the following crucial result.

Proposition 8.1. Let q > 0 and P be a smooth function on \mathbb{R}^3 such that $P(x) \ge 1$ and P(x) = P(-x) for any x, and

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|y|^3}{P(y)^q} dy < +\infty.$$
(8.1)

Then there exists some function $v \in X_{ev}$ satisfying $\min_{\mathbf{R}^3} v = v(0) = 0$ and

$$v(x) = \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|x-y|^3 - |y|^3}{\left(P(y) + v(y)\right)^q} dy \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3.$$
(8.2)

Moreover, there holds

$$\lim_{x|\nearrow +\infty} \frac{v(x)}{|x|^3} = \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{dy}{\left(P(y) + v(y)\right)^q}.$$
(8.3)

Proof. We start our proof by observing

$$\begin{aligned} ||x-y|^{3} - |y|^{3}| &= ||x-y| - |y||(|x-y|^{2} + |x-y||y| + |y|^{2}) \\ &\leq |x|(3|x|^{2} + |x||y| + 3|y|^{2}). \end{aligned}$$
(8.4)

This and the integrability condition (8.1) tells us that the function \hat{v} defined by

$$\widehat{v}(x) = \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|x-y|^3 - |y|^3}{\left(P(y) + |v(y)|\right)^q} dy$$

is well-defined everywhere in \mathbf{R}^3 . Besides, if $v \in C^0(\mathbf{R}^3)$, then \hat{v} is of class $C^5(\mathbf{R}^3)$. In addition, thanks to the symmetry P(x) = P(-x) in \mathbf{R}^3 we can also conclude that if v(x) = v(-x), then $\hat{v}(x) = \hat{v}(-x)$ everywhere. This allows us to define the following operator

$$T: X_{\rm ev} \to X_{\rm ev},$$
$$v \mapsto \widehat{v}.$$

Our aim is to show that T has a fixed point in X_{ev} . First we show that T is well-defined. To see this, it remains to verify $\|\hat{v}\| < +\infty$. Thanks to (8.4), we can estimate

$$|\widehat{v}(x)| \leq \frac{3|x|^3}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{dy}{P(y)^q} + \frac{|x|^2}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|y|dy}{P(y)^q} + \frac{3|x|}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|y|^2 dy}{P(y))^q}$$

Under the integrability (8.1) we deduce that the above three integrals are finite. Hence there is some C > 0 such that

$$|\widehat{v}(x)| \le C(|x|^3 + |x|^2 + |x|).$$

which is enough to guarantee $|\hat{v}(x)| \leq 3C(1+|x|^3)$, namely $\|\hat{v}\| < +\infty$. Differentiating under the integral sign gives

$$|\nabla \widehat{v}(x)| \leq \frac{1}{32\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|x-y|^2}{\left(P(y) + |v(y)|\right)^q} dy \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3 \,.$$

Now we show that T is continuous. Indeed, let $(v_k)_k \subset X_{ev}$ be such that $v_k \to v$ in $(X_{ev}, \|\cdot\|)$. In particular, $v_k \to v$ in \mathbb{R}^3 in the pointwise sense. Thanks to (8.4) we can argue as before to obtain

$$\|v_k - v\| \le C \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} (3 + |y| + 3|y|^2) \Big| \frac{1}{\left(P(y) + |v_k(y)|\right)^q} - \frac{1}{\left(P(y) + |v(y)|\right)^q} \Big| dy$$

for some C > 0. Hence, to conclude the continuity of T, it suffices to show that the right hand side of the preceding inequality goes to zero as $k \nearrow +\infty$. But this simply follows from dominated convergence, thanks to the integrability condition (8.1).

Now we show that T is compact. Let $(v_k)_k \subset X_{ev}$ be an arbitrary sequence, we must show that $(T(v_k))_k$ has a convergent subsequence. The idea is to use the Arzelà-Ascoli Theorem on the sequence $(T_k)_k$ with

$$T_k := \frac{T(v_k)}{1+|x|^3}.$$

First by the above estimate we deduce that the sequence $(T_k)_k$ is uniformly bounded. Now, for any $x, y, z \in \mathbf{R}^3$ and similar to (8.4) we observe that

$$\left||x-z|^3 - |y-z|^3\right| \le |x-y|(|x-z| + |y-z|)^2 \le 4(|x|^2 + |y|^2 + 2|z|^2)|x-y| \quad (8.5)$$
 and that

and

$$||x - z||y| - |y - z||x|| \le (2|x| + 2|y| + |z|)|x - y|$$

we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \left| \frac{|x-z|^3}{1+|x|^3} - \frac{|y-z|^3}{1+|y|^3} \right| &\leq \frac{\left| |x-z|^3 - |y-z|^3 \right|}{(1+|x|^3)(1+|y|^3)} + \frac{\left| |x-z|^3|y|^3 - |y-z|^3|x|^3 \right|}{(1+|x|^3)(1+|y|^3)} \\ &\leq \frac{4(|x|^2 + |y|^2 + 2|z|^2)}{(1+|x|^3)(1+|y|^3)} |x-y| \\ &\quad + \frac{(2|x|+2|y|+|z|)(|x-z||y|+|y-z||x|)^2}{(1+|x|^3)(1+|y|^3)} |x-y| \end{split}$$

$$\leq C(1+|z|+|z|^2+|z|^3)|x-y|$$
 for some $C>0.$ This tells us that

$$\left|\frac{T(v_k)(x)}{1+|x|^3} - \frac{T(v_k)(y)}{1+|y|^3}\right| \le \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \left|\frac{|x-z|^3}{1+|x|^3} - \frac{|y-z|^3}{1+|y|^3}\right| \frac{1}{\left(P(z)+|v(z)|\right)^q} dz$$
$$\le \frac{C}{96\pi} \left(\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{1+|z|+|z|^2+|z|^3}{\left(P(z)+|v(z)|\right)^q} dz\right) |x-y|$$

for any $x, y \in \mathbf{R}^3$ and any k. Hence, the sequence $(T_k)_k$ is equicontinuous. By the Arzelà– Ascoli Theorem, the sequence $(T_k)_k$ admits a subsequence which converges uniformly. Thus, the sequence $(T(v_k))_k$ admits a converging subsequence in $(X_{ev}, \|\cdot\|)$ and therefore T is a compact operator.

Next, we prove that T has a fixed point by means of the Schaefer Fixed Point Theorem, see [GT98, Theorem 11.6]. Let $v \in X_{ev}$ be such that

$$v = tT(v)$$
 for some $t \in [0, 1]$,

namely

$$v(x) = \frac{t}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|x-y|^3 - |y|^3}{(P(y) + |v(y)|)^q} dy$$
 in \mathbf{R}^3 .

Then by following the argument for \hat{v} we should arrive at

$$|v(x)| \le \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{\left||x-y|^3 - |y|^3\right|}{\left(P(y) + |v(y)|\right)^q} dy \le C(1+|x|^3)$$

for some C > 0 independent of v. Consequently, $||v|| \le C$. This means that the set

$$\{v \in X : v = tT(v) \text{ for some } t \in [0,1]\}$$

is bounded in $(X_{ev}, \|\cdot\|)$. Thus, T has a fixed point in X_{ev} , still denoted by v.

Next, we verify $\min_{\mathbf{R}^3} v = v(0) = 0$. As v(0) = 0 is trivial, it suffices to show $v \ge 0$. Indeed, by the symmetry of v we have

$$2v(x) = v(x) + v(-x) = \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|x-y|^3 + |x+y|^3 - 2|y|^3}{\left(P(y) + |v(y)|\right)^q} dy.$$

By the Jensen inequality we know that

$$|x-y|^3 + |x+y|^3 \ge \frac{1}{4}(|x-y| + |x+y|)^3 \ge 2|y|^3.$$

Putting the above two facts together we arrive at $v \ge 0$. This also implies (8.2).

Let us now verify the limit (8.3). Clearly the integral on the right hand side of (8.3) converges and

$$\lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{v(x)}{|x|^3} = \frac{1}{96\pi} \lim_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|x-y|^3 - |y|^3}{|x|^3} \frac{dy}{\left(P(y) + |v(y)|\right)^q}$$

Under the integrability condition (8.1), we can apply the Lebesgue dominated convergence to obtain (8.3). \Box

Proposition 8.1 tells us that there is some continuous function v solving the integral equation (8.2). In fact, we can say more.

Lemma 8.2. If $v \in X_{ev}$ solves (8.2), then v solves

$$\Delta^3 v = -(v+P)^{-q} \quad in \ \mathbf{R}^3$$

In fact, as P is smooth, v is smooth.

Proof. Let $v \in X_{ev}$ solve (8.2). In particular, $v \in C^0(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Unfortunately, this is not enough because $v \in C^{5,\alpha}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ for any $\alpha \in (0,1)$ by elliptic estimates. However, it is not hard to see that v is actually locally Lipschitz continuous. Indeed, thanks to (8.5) for any x and y in any given compact set we can estimate

$$\begin{aligned} |v(x) - v(y)| &\leq \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{\left| |x - z|^3 - |y - z|^3 \right|}{\left(P(z) + v(z) \right)^q} dz \\ &\leq \frac{1}{24\pi} \Big(\int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|x|^2 + |y|^2 + 2|z|^2}{\left(P(z) + v(z) \right)^q} dz \Big) |x - y| \end{aligned}$$

From this and the integrability condition (8.1) we obtain the locally Lipschitz continuity of v. Now it follows from elliptic estimates that $v \in C^{6,\alpha}(\mathbf{R}^3)$ for any $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. This is enough to conclude that v solves the desired PDE. Finally, the smoothness of v can be easily obtained, for example, by induction.

We are now in position to prove the result. To do so, we first recall q > 1/2 (instead of q > 0 as in the statement of Proposition 8.1). For any $\varepsilon > 0$ but fixed we let

$$P_{\varepsilon}(x) = 1 + 3x_1^4 + 4(x_2^4 + x_3^4) + \varepsilon |x|^{12}, \quad x = (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbf{R}^3$$

Clearly, P_{ε} is smooth, $P_{\varepsilon} \ge 1 + |x|^4$, and P_{ε} enjoys the symmetry property $P_{\varepsilon}(x) = P_{\varepsilon}(-x)$ for any $x \in \mathbf{R}^3$. Furthermore, it is easy to see that the condition (8.1) with P replaced by P_{ε} is fulfilled. Then, by Proposition 8.1 there is some $v_{\varepsilon} \ge 0$ in X_{ev} solving (8.2), namely

$$v_{\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{1}{96\pi} \int_{\mathbf{R}^3} \frac{|x-y|^3 - |y|^3}{\left(P_{\varepsilon}(y) + v_{\varepsilon}(y)\right)^q} dy \quad \text{in } \mathbf{R}^3.$$
(8.6)

By Lemma 8.2 we know that $v_{\varepsilon} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Now we claim that the sequence (v_{ε}) is bounded in $C_{\text{loc}}^9(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Indeed, by differentiating under the integral sign, we obtain from (8.6) the following

$$|D^{\beta}v_{\varepsilon}(x)| \leq C \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3}} \frac{1}{|x-y|} \frac{1}{\left(P_{\varepsilon}(y) + v_{\varepsilon}(y)\right)^{q}} dy$$

for some C > 0 and for any multi-index β with $|\beta| = 4$. For $|x| \le 2$ we can estimate

$$\begin{split} |D^{\beta}v_{\varepsilon}(x)| &\leq C\Big(\int_{B_{3}} + \int_{\mathbf{R}^{3} \setminus B_{3}}\Big)\frac{1}{|x-y|}\frac{1}{\left(P_{\varepsilon}(y) + v_{\varepsilon}(y)\right)^{q}}dy\\ &\leq C\int_{B_{3}}\frac{dy}{|x-y|} + 3C\int_{\mathbf{R}^{3} \setminus B_{3}}\frac{dy}{|y|\left(P_{\varepsilon}(y) + v_{\varepsilon}(y)\right)^{q}} \end{split}$$

Keep in mind that q > 1/2 and $P_{\varepsilon}(x) + v_{\varepsilon}(x) \ge |x|^4$. Hence, the preceding estimate yields a bound of $|D^{\beta}v_{\varepsilon}|$, which is independent of ε , in the region $\{x \in \mathbf{R}^3 : |x| \le 2\}$. Let us now consider the region $\{x \in \mathbf{R}^3 : |x| > 2\}$. Initially, we decompose the integral $\int_{\mathbf{R}^3}$ as follows

$$\begin{aligned} |D^{\beta}v_{\varepsilon}(x)| &\leq C\Big(\int_{\{|y|\leq \frac{|x|}{2}\}} + \int_{\{\frac{|x|}{2}\leq |y|\leq 2|x|\}} + \int_{\{|y|\geq 2|x|\}}\Big)\frac{1}{|x-y|}\frac{1}{\left(P_{\varepsilon}(y) + v_{\varepsilon}(y)\right)^{q}}dy\\ &= C(I_{1}+I_{2}+I_{3}).\end{aligned}$$

For the term I_1 , as $|x - y| \ge |x| - |y| \ge |x|/2$ we can bound

$$I_1 \le \frac{2}{|x|} \int_{\{|y| \le \frac{|x|}{2}\}} \frac{dy}{(1+|y|^4)^q} \le \frac{C}{|x|} \int_{\{|y| \le \frac{|x|}{2}\}} \frac{dy}{(1+|y|)^{4q}}$$

Note that

$$\int_{\{|y| \le \frac{|x|}{2}\}} \frac{dy}{(1+|y|)^{4q}} = C \int_0^{|x|/2} \frac{r^2 dr}{(1+r)^{4q}} \le C \int_0^{|x|/2} \frac{dr}{(1+r)^{4q-2}}.$$

Thus we get

$$I_1 \le C \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|x|^{4q-2}} & \text{if } q \neq 3/4, \\ \frac{\log(1+|x|)}{|x|} & \text{if } q = 3/4. \end{cases}$$

For the term I_2 , as $P_{\varepsilon}(y) + v_{\varepsilon}(y) \ge |y|^4 \ge (|x|/2)^4$ we can bound

$$I_2 \le \left(\frac{2}{|x|}\right)^{4q} \int_{\{\frac{|x|}{2} \le |y| \le 2|x|\}} \frac{dy}{|x-y|} \le \frac{C}{|x|^{4q-2}}.$$

Finally, for the term I_3 as $|x - y| \ge |y| - |x| \ge |y|/2$ we can estimate as follows

$$I_3 \le 4 \int_{\{|y| \ge 2|x|\}} \frac{1}{|y|} \frac{1}{(1+|y|^4)^q} dy \le \frac{C}{|x|^{4q-2}}.$$

Thus, we have just shown that, for some C > 0, $|D^{\beta}v_{\varepsilon}(x)| \leq C$ in B_2 and

$$|D^{\beta}v_{\varepsilon}(x)| \le C \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|x|^{4q-2}} & \text{if } q \neq 3/4, \\ \frac{\log(1+|x|)}{|x|} & \text{if } q = 3/4, \end{cases}$$

in $\mathbf{R}^3 \setminus B_2$. As q > 1/2, this also implies that $|D^\beta v_\varepsilon(x)|$ with $|\beta| = 4$ is bounded. In fact, this is true for any β with $|\beta| \le 4$. Hence, we have just shown that (v_ε) is bounded in $C^4_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{R}^3)$. Using the integral equation (8.6) one can further show that (v_ε) is bounded in $C^9_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{R}^3)$.

The boundedness in $C_{loc}^9(\mathbf{R}^3)$ allows us to select a convergence subsequence via a diagonal argument, namely for some $\varepsilon_k \searrow 0$ as $k \nearrow +\infty$ we have

$$v_{\varepsilon_k} \to v \quad \text{in } C^6_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{R}^3)$$

for some $v \ge 0$ satisfying

$$\Delta^3 v = -(P_0 + v)^{-q} \quad \text{uniformly in } \mathbf{R}^3,$$

where $P_0(x) = 1 + x_1^4 + 2(x_2^4 + x_3^4)$. Indeed, this is standard and goes as follows. By the Arzelà-Ascoli Theorem, there is a subsequence $(v_{\varepsilon_k^{(1)}})_k$ of (v_{ε}) and a function $v^{(1)} \in C^6(\overline{B}_1)$ such that

$$v_{\varepsilon_k^{(1)}} \rightrightarrows v^{(1)}, \quad \Delta^3 v_{\varepsilon_k^{(1)}} \rightrightarrows \Delta^3 v^{(1)} \quad \text{uniformly in } \overline{B}_1.$$

Again by the Arzelà–Ascoli Theorem, there is a subsequence $(\varepsilon_k^{(2)})_k$ of $(\varepsilon_k^{(1)})_k$ and a function $v^{(2)} \in C^6(\overline{B}_2)$ such that

$$v_{\varepsilon_k^{(2)}} \rightrightarrows v^{(2)}, \quad \Delta^3 v_{\varepsilon_k^{(2)}} \rightrightarrows \Delta^3 v^{(2)} \quad \text{uniformly in } \overline{B}_2.$$

1138 It is important to note that $v^{(2)} \equiv v^{(1)}$ in \overline{B}_1 . Repeating this process, for each integer i > 11139 we obtain a subsequence $(\varepsilon_k^{(i)})_k$ of $(\varepsilon_k^{(i-1)})_k$ and a function $v^{(i)} \in C^6(\overline{B}_i)$ such that

$$v_{arepsilon_{k}^{(i)}}
ightarrow v^{(i)}, \quad \Delta^{3} v_{arepsilon_{k}^{(i)}}
ightarrow \Delta^{3} v^{(i)}$$
 uniformly in \overline{B}_{i} .

and

$$v^{(i)} \equiv v^{(i-1)} \quad \text{in } \overline{B}_{i-1}$$

From this we simply consider the pointwise limit of $(v^{(i)})_i$ to get the desired function v and the diagonal sequence $(v_{\varepsilon_i^{(i)}})_i$ of $(v_{\varepsilon_i^{(i)}})_k$ to get the desired convergence.

Hence, by passing to the limit, we conclude that the function $u = P_0 + v$ solves our PDE. Moreover, thanks to (8.3) we know that $v = o(|x|^4)$ at infinity. Hence

$$\liminf_{|x| \neq +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^4} = \liminf_{|x| \neq +\infty} \frac{P_0(x)}{|x|^4} = 3 < 4 = \limsup_{|x| \neq +\infty} \frac{P_0(x)}{|x|^4} = \limsup_{|x| \neq +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^4}.$$

By the classification of growth in Theorem 1.1 we readily see that u cannot be radially symmetric.

Remark 8.3. It can be seen from the above proof that we have chosen P_{ε} precisely which is enough to serve our purpose. However, arguing similarly one can show that given any two constants $\kappa_2 > \kappa_1 > 0$ there is a solution u > 0 to (1.1) such that

$$\liminf_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^4} = \kappa_1, \quad \limsup_{|x| \nearrow +\infty} \frac{u(x)}{|x|^4} = \kappa_2,$$

giving a result similar to that in [HW19].

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This is an updated and expanded version of our earlier work announced in [ND17b]. We thank the Vietnam Institute for Advanced Study in Mathematics (VIASM), where this work and its earlier version were finalized, for hospitality and providing a very stimulating atmosphere. Thanks also go to Nguyen Anh Tu, Quoc Hung Phan, and Van Hoang Nguyen for their interest in the paper and many constructive comments on this project.

ORCID IDS

Quốc Anh Ngô: 0000-0002-3550-9689

REFERENCES

- [Alb21] R. ALBESIANO, Solutions of Liouville equations with non-trivial profile in dimensions 2 and 4, J. Differential Equations 272 (2021), pp. 606–647.
- [CX09] Y.S. CHOI, X. XU, Nonlinear biharmonic equations with negative exponents, preprint 1999, J. Differential Equations 246 (2009), pp. 216–234.
- [DF22] W. DAI, J. FU, On properties of positive solutions to nonlinear tri-harmonic and bi-harmonic equations with negative exponents, *Bull. Math. Sci.*, doi: 10.1142/S1664360722500072, 2022.
- [DFG10] J. DÁVILA, I. FLORES, I. GUERRA, Multiplicity of solutions for a fourth order problem with powertype nonlinearity, *Math. Ann.* 348 (2010), pp. 143–193.
 - [ND17a] T.V. DUOC, Q.A. NGÔ, A note on positive radial solutions of $\Delta^2 u + u^{-q} = 0$ in \mathbf{R}^3 with exactly quadratic growth at infinity, *Differential Integral Equations* **30** (2017), pp. 917–928.
 - [ND17b] T.V. DUOC, Q.A. NGÔ, Exact growth at infinity for radial solutions to $\Delta^3 u + u^{-q} = 0$ in \mathbb{R}^3 , ViAsM:1702, 2017.
 - [FF16] A. FARINA, A. FERRERO, Existence and stability properties of entire solutions to the polyharmonic equation $(-\Delta)^m u = e^u$ for any $m \ge 1$, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire **33** (2016), pp. 495–528.
 - [FX13] X. FENG, X. XU, Entire Solutions of an Integral Equation in R⁵, ISRN Mathematical Analysis, Volume 2013 (2013), Article ID 384394, 17 pages.
- [GT98] D. GILBARG, N.S. TRUDINGER, *Elliptic partial differential equations of second order*, Reprint of the 1998 edition, Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001.
- [Gue12] I. GUERRA, A note on nonlinear biharmonic equations with negative exponents, J. Differential Equations 253 (2012), pp. 3147–3157.

- [GW07] Z.M. GUO, J.C. WEI, Symmetry of non-negative solutions of a semilinear elliptic equation with singular nonlinearity, *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A* 137 (2007), pp. 963–994.
- [GW08] Z.M. GUO, J.C. WEI, Entire solutions and global bifurcations for a biharmonic equation with singular non-linearity in \mathbb{R}^3 , *Adv. Differential Equations* **13** (2008), pp. 753–780.
- [GJMS92] C.R. GRAHAM, R. JENNE, L. MASON, G. SPARLING, Conformally invariant powers of the Laplacian, I: existence, J. London Math. Soc. 46 (1992), pp. 557–565.
- [Han07] F.B. HANG, On the higher order conformal covariant operators on the sphere, *Commun. Contemp. Math.* 9 (2007), pp. 279–299.
- [HV96] J. HULSHOF, R.C.A.M. VAN DER VORST, Asymptotic behaviour of ground states, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 124 (1996), pp. 2423–2431.
 - [HW19] A. HYDER, J.C. WEI, Non-radial solutions to a bi-harmonic equation with negative exponent, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 58 (2019), no. 6, Paper No. 198, 11 pp.
- [KR03] P.J. MCKENNA, W. REICHEL, Radial solutions of singular nonlinear biharmonic equations and applications to conformal geometry, *Electron. J. Differential Equations* 37 (2003), pp. 1–13.
- [KNS88] T. KUSANO, M. NAITO, C.A. SWANSON, Radial entire solutions of even order semilinear elliptic equations, *Canad. J. Math.* 40 (1988), pp. 1281–1300.
- [Lai14] B. LAI, A new proof of I. Guerra's results concerning nonlinear biharmonic equations with negative exponents, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 418 (2014), pp. 469–475.
- [LY16] B. LAI, D. YE, Remarks on entire solutions for two fourth-order elliptic problems, Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2) 59 (2016), pp. 777–786.
- [Li04] Y. LI, Remark on some conformally invariant integral equations: the method of moving spheres, J. *Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS)* **6** (2004), pp. 153–180.
- [LWZ16] S. LUO, J.C. WEI, W. ZOU, On the triharmonic Lane-Emden equation, preprint, 2016
- [NY22] Q.A. NGô, D. YE, Existence and non-existence results for the higher order Hardy–Hénon equations revisited, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 163 (2022), pp. 265–298.
- [NNP18] Q.A. NGÔ, V.H. NGUYEN, Q.H. PHAN, Classification of entire positive radial solutions to nonlinear triharmonic equations, preprint, 2018.
- [NNPY20] Q.A. NGÔ, V.H. NGUYEN, Q.H. PHAN, D. YE, Exhaustive existence and non-existence results for some prototype polyharmonic equations, J. Differential Equations 269 (2020), 11621–11645.
- [Xu05] X. XU, Exact solutions of nonlinear conformally invariant integral equations in R³, Adv. Math. 194 (2005), pp. 485–503.
- [WX99] J. WEI, X. XU, Classification of solutions of higher order conformally invariant equations, *Math. Ann.* 313 (1999), pp. 207–228.

(T.V. Duoc) UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE, VIETNAM NATIONAL UNIVERSITY, HANOI, VIETNAM

- Email address: tvduoc@gmail.com
- (Q.A. Ngô) University of Science, Vietnam National University, Hanoi, Vietnam
- 1221 Email address: nganh@vnu.edu.vn

1185

1186

1187

1188

1189

1190 1191

1192

1193

1194 1195

1196 1197

1198

1199 1200

1201

1202

1203 1204

1205

1206 1207

1208

1209

1210

1211

1212 1213

1214 1215

1216

1217

1218 1219